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DEDICATION
 
   To my awesome kids, Isabelly, Gabbylicious, and the Dylanator.  
 
   Like these stories, I had a hand in bringing you into the world.
 
   Unlike these stories, you have a great Mom to fix what I screwed up.
 
   



 
  



 
    
 
   TINKER BELL UNBOUND
 
   



 
  



 
    
 
   The muted whistle of a micro gas turbine and the crunch of dry vegetation were the only abnormal sounds as the semi-autonomous light assault tank cruised by on its perimeter sweep.  The "Ripper" scanned from side to side on its path, noting every heat differential, motion, and pattern variation in the background of the Bolivian rain forest with calculated efficiency.  It was only as good as its programming and the oversight it was given however, and even machines could get complacent when under the supervisory control of a bored and impatient Remote Operator.  
 
    Captain Luis Vargas froze in utter stillness as the Ripper rolled by, its guns tracking past where he hid in the tall grass.  It would have seen him nonetheless, but the stifling adiabatic camouflage he wore kept him virtually invisible.  Vargas exhaled in relief as the tank moved on without pause.  The Ripper and its REMO -- safe in one of the UE compound's air-conditioned trailers -- were both over-relying upon some sort of early warning from the Forward Operation Base's area surveillance net, but Vargas' insider had already taken care of that.
 
    The Ripper rolled further down the hill, its armored tires cruising along the trail it had crushed flat on previous patrols.  The captain then heard a quick double click over the comm circuit as his spy signaled the next step.  The REMOs should all be gathered together in the FOB's central control trailer, with everyone localized, unaware.  Vargas' eyes narrowed.  There was work to be done -- the worst sort of work that men do -- and it was time.
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    Specialist Piper Biel stepped into the relative darkness of the Remote AI Coordination trailer and quickly shut the door behind her, blocking off the oppressive South American heat outside so she could revel in the coolness of the REMOs' central control room.  As her eyes adjusted, the interior became brighter and she could make out the crowd gathered inside.  Six of the company's remote operators were strapped down in their individual REMO couches, skull caps nestled over their heads, their minds far away.  Lords of the battlefield, these six were each engaged in varying levels of combat or patrol throughout their little slice of Bolivia, directing either platoons of Rippers, sections of the heavier Brutes, or light squadrons of Hornet air assault AIs, all with nothing but their thoughts.
 
    Around them, all the other off-duty combat REMOs were gathered, talking and laughing, unconcerned with distracting the Remote Operators actively working.  A mix of NCO's, warrants, junior officers, they were all well senior to Piper.  She should have -- and would have -- simply blended into the background until needed, but Second Lieutenant Saunders was spewing his usual rhetoric, and she could not stop the heat rising in her blood as she listened to him.
 
    "It's only a matter of time until we shut these nationalists down and gain the whole damn continent for the movement.  Then, finally, maybe we can have a little decent R & R.  I am so freakin' tired of security-zone liberty.  What we need is access to some of these Latin honeys.  Talk about a squandered national resource!"
 
    Saunders had been going on in a similar vein for several minutes, and nobody was saying a thing to him, though at least the Major looked angry about it.  Piper could not keep quiet though.
 
    She stepped forward, shouldering her way through the tight confines of the trailer.  "Correct me if I'm wrong, Lieutenant, but I don't recall your access to 'honeys' being one of the Unified Earth's strategic objectives for Bolivia.  I seem to remember something about promoting democratic freedoms, equal prosperity, and ethical resource management, but nothing at all about your dating pool.  Did you get a memo we're unaware of?"
 
    Saunders glared at her for a moment, then smiled with equal looks of disdain and appraisal.  "Well, well, if it isn't our own bleeding heart 'Tinker Bell'.  What brings you among the actual war-fighters, Specialist?"
 
    Her eyes flared at the use of the annoying play on both her specialty and her name, not to mention his disparaging of her contribution to the movement.  She brushed it aside.  "Somebody told me Carlos had asked for all the REMOs to meet in the control room, sir."
 
    Saunders smiled viciously.  "That's Combat REMOs, sweetie, not maintainers.  Carlos wants to get our input on the Unification Day festivities, but I don't think he intended to consult with every wrench-turner on the compound -- just the people who matter."
 
    Piper returned his smile with equal malice.  "So what are you doing here, sir?"
 
    His smile dropped and he squared to face her.  "You might want to see if your little nanotech fairies can fix that smart mouth of yours."
 
    "No, sir.  There's strict rules against using my remotes on humans.  Lower life-forms are no problem, though.  Maybe I can get them to find your -"
 
    "Enough!"  The Major's voice cut through their growing argument and what little chatter remained.  "Staff Sergeant Daniels, please counsel your soldier on proper deference and respect.  LT Saunders, get your ignorant ass over here."
 
    A firm hand gripped Piper's arm and drew her outside, though she and Saunders continued to glare at one another until the trailer's door slammed in her face.  She turned on Staff Sergeant Daniels, who let her go and looked back at her with his arms folded, his expression perturbed.  She set her jaw and stood at attention, ready to be blasted.
 
    Daniels waited until she started to sweat, then asked, "Biel, do I have to counsel you on proper deference and respect?  Again?"
 
    "No, Staff Sergeant!  We need to do something about that racist, sexist, idiot butter-bar.  I know I shouldn't have said anything, but it's people like him who give the whole UE a bad name!"
 
    Daniels waited again, until sweat was pouring down her face.  "Finished?"
 
    "Yes, Sarge."
 
    "You need to let the Major handle Saunders.  There's issues there that are waaaay over your pay-grade, but suffice it to say, you want to stay out of the middle of it.  What you do need to worry about is how the Major thinks of you.  You're smart, Biel, smart enough to jump the enlisted tracks and find your way to a commission, but that's not going to happen if you make him think you're some sort of loose warhead."
 
    Piper sneered at him.  "An officer?  Unlikely.  After all, I'm not a 'warfighter', I'm just a maintainer."
 
    Daniels laughed, and reached down to grab up her rifle and her maintenance pack, which she had left outside.  He handed them over, smiling.  "Not to insult the force multiplication provided by our REMOs, but I’d be careful throwing around the title of ‘war-fighter’ to guys that play video games with their mind.  The only reason they’re in-country is the lightspeed lag between satellites and the Bolivians’ long-range jamming capability.  Trust me, as soldiers go, I'd rank you above Saunders any day."
 
    She took the pack and slid it onto her back, cinching the straps tight.  She reached down and shouldered her caseless carbine as well.  "Even so, I don't think I'd make a good O.  I believe in the mission and all, but . . . ."  Piper gestured to the blazing hot, overgrown forest just beyond the perimeter fence.  "I don't know if I believe enough to order people to take somebody's country from them, just to 'manage their resources for the future'.  I mean, is that even our right?"
 
    Daniels shrugged and grabbed the door handle to go back inside.  "It's not even as clear-cut as that, Biel.  It never is, but leave those questions for the statesmen.  All you have to remember is that we're your people, your family, and when it comes down to it, you'll fight for us, because everyone's counting on you to do so.  Same goes for the other side, of course, but that doesn't stop them from being the enemy and trying to kill you first.  Trust me, moral quandaries have a way of solving themselves when the tracer rounds start working your way."
 
    He returned inside.  Piper shook her head, stepped down the short steps of the elevated trailer, and stalked away.
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    Captain Vargas keyed his comm three times in quick succession, passing their spy's signal to his men.  He rose to his knees and zoomed his targeting reticule out to take the entire Unified Earth compound into view.  Behind him, men popped out from the tree line and took aim on the Ripper and the various structures of the FOB.
 
    Shoulder-launched hyper-velocity missiles lanced outward, their attack marked by cracks of lightning and ionized trails of tortured air which suddenly appeared between the launchers and their targets.  The abrupt snaps of their launch were followed closely by the deeper roars of multiple explosions around the compound.
 
    The first kinetic strike blasted the Ripper down the hill, but the tank struggled to turn back, to take aim on its attackers.  A second HVM cracked it open, detonating its magazines in an explosion that shook the hill like the footfall of a god.
 
    The FOB's trailers and prefab buildings proved less resilient.  HVMs struck the communications trailer, barracks, armory, sheds, and depots.  Though every one of the HVMs were “up-translated” alike, undergoing a step-wise, near instantaneous acceleration to 6000 meters per second by differential momentum transfer, each individual strike had been tailored for the hardness of its particular target.  
 
    Armored targets received a unitary round, its singular punch necessary to shatter the objective's crystal laminate shell.  Unitary rounds would be wasted on the flimsy trailers, though, tending to pass right through with little transfer of energy or damage.  Filament rounds were more appropriate there.
 
    A single one of those thrashed the REMO controllers' trailer, but it was more than sufficient.  Just before it struck, the missile broke up into a cloud of tungsten filaments, converting its massive kinetic energy into thermal bloom and explosive overpressure.  The shockwave leveled the little trailer and everyone inside.
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    Piper had walked no more than thirty meters away when everything went to hell.  Overpressure from the hit on the REMO trailer struck her in the back and sent her tumbling through the air.  She slammed into the ground and rolled, flipping end over end until she came to a stop in a clump of tall grasses, out of the way of the explosions blossoming throughout the camp. 
 
    Consciousness faded in and out.
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    Smoke and dust boiled up from the FOB.  Vargas rose to a crouch, his head sticking slightly above the dry grass.  He worried briefly about how the fires they had started might spread, but then refocused on their mission.  With a wave of his hand, he and his men started forward, moving quickly, but carefully, covering one another in case there had been more on patrol than that single Ripper.
 
    Then the pain hit.  Every nerve ending screamed as if someone had dipped him into liquid flame.  His men all collapsed, writhing upon the ground, rendered helpless by the compound's belated defenses.
 
    Vargas keyed his comm, forcing out a strangled plea.  "Carlos, the MAD is on.  Shut.  It.  Down."
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    Piper groaned and tried to get her bearings.  The whole compound was on fire, bunkers and trailers flattened into debris.  Nothing moved, everyone having been driven inside the now collapsed structures by the oppressive heat.  She realized she might be the only one left alive.
 
    She rolled to her stomach and looked around, trying to catch sight of any sort of movement, from either their inbound attackers or her own people trying to rally.  She almost cried out in relief when Carlos appeared, unharmed, but something about their loyal supply liaison from the nearby village kept her quiet.
 
    Carlos ran to the burning remains of the Headquarters trailer and searched among the clustered service modules that had been assembled next to it.  He pulled a pistol and took aim on the large power-conditioning module for the Microwave Area Denial system.  The stocky villager fired over and over into the module, until it sparked and smoke began to pour out.
 
     Piper used the opportunity to crawl out of the open while his attention was occupied.  She looked for her carbine, cursed softly when it failed to appear, and then sought out a decent place to hide.  She saw some large debris scattered across the entrance of a small culvert and figured it might work out.  Wincing as every joint screamed in protest, Piper climbed into the culvert and pulled a piece of sheet metal across the opening.
 
    She looked out of a crack in the aluminum and tried not to cry.  I'm not a fighter, I'm just a maintainer.  I'm not a fighter . . . .
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    Vargas stood and threw back the sealed hood of his adiabatic camo with a sigh of relief.  Compared to the interior of the thermally insulated suit, the outside was pleasantly cool.  He looked over the devastation he and his men had wrought and shook his head at its terrible necessity.  He would rather have been home, relaxing beneath a fan and nursing a cold beer, perhaps contemplating the coolness of evening and the touch of his wife.  But it was not to be.  His beloved Bolivia was in danger, and he had to answer the call against these resource-mongers.  
 
    The captain turned to his men.  "Fan out!  Secure the area, count the bodies, and see if we can salvage anything.  Work quickly!  It won't be long before the Unies begin to notice their ops bases dropping off the map."  
 
    Vargas watched his men spread out among the destruction of the imperial compound, combing through the wreckage.  Their search was interspersed with the occasional crack of rifles being fired.  They had a long, fast march back to their extraction point.  That meant there was no room for prisoners.
 
    Carlos approached, looking sheepish.
 
    Vargas shook his head.  "Thank you so very much for making sure the automated defenses were down.  That was less than pleasant."
 
    "My deepest apologies, Captain," Carlos said, practically bowing.  "I did turn it all off, but it must have been reset by your attack on the base.  No permanent harm, I hope?"
 
    Vargas' eyes narrowed.  "Two men are still in shock.  You'll have to put them up in your village until they recover, but no, there's nothing permanent.  Other than that, this has been a flawless operation.  Did we get all the remote operators?  All eighteen?"
 
    "I guarantee it, sir.  I had all three sections of Combat REMOs and their supervisors meet in the control room, with the Maintenance REMO as well.  Their AI platoons and squadrons should all be operating independently, making them far more limited, even vulnerable I hope."
 
    "Our fat, lazy generals will be pleased."  Vargas spat on the ground in disgust.  "Everyone fears the mighty metallic monsters of the UE, but the Unies would've never gotten a foothold here if our 'heroic leadership' had just met them in force instead of cowering from legends of their prowess."  
 
    The captain looked around.  The death toll was high, more marks against the ledger of his life.  It was hard to feel much sympathy, though -- not for these "warriors" who used machines to insulate them from the horrors of combat.  
 
    Fed up with his enemies and his leaders alike, Vargas simply felt weary.  "No matter.  Get over to the comms station and headquarters.  Search the wreckage and extract every data-stack and hard drive you find.  I'd like to have something tangible to take back as justification for this butcher bill."
 
    Carlos rendered a sloppy salute and went off toward the center of the compound.  Vargas walked along the periphery of the base, but then turned sharply to the interior when he heard the first cries of agony.  He started running toward the screams.  
 
    Second Lieutenant Saunders lay on the ground, helpless, crying out in pain.  One of the Bolivian soldiers stood over him, a booted foot grinding upon the lieutenant's bloody abdomen.  
 
    The soldier grinned maniacally.  "The other planets weren't enough for you, you had to have all of Earth as well?  Well how does war feel, you imperialist pig?  Where are your Rippers now?  Where are your Hornets?  How can you call yourself a warrior without your robots to kill for you?"
 
    Vargas came running up from behind and drew his pistol.  He put a single round through Saunders' forehead, ending his screams abruptly.  The soldier turned around, shocked, only to meet the pistol's slide as Vargas swung it into his face.  His nose shattered and the soldier fell to the ground next to Saunders' corpse.
 
    "Get up, you fool," his captain growled.  "You're my man, not some dog.  I won't stand for you torturing the enemy.  We are here for a job and we will do it as professionals, free of all passions.  These people were soldiers, just like us.  They came here on orders, just as you would if I ordered it.  And if you hurt them needlessly, I will hurt you in equal measure.  Do I make myself clear?"
 
    "Yes, Captain Vargas, sir!"  The soldier struggled to his feet, cupping his nose and trying to stand at attention.
 
    Vargas shook his head.  "Get going.  You have work to do."
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    Piper watched the Bolivian captain re-holster his sidearm, the horrifying image blurred by the tears flowing freely across her vision.  The South American soldiers were killing every person they found alive, and here she was, cowering in a hole, weaponless, clueless, and so damned afraid that she thought her heart might burst.
 
    Her fear and self-recrimination threatened to swallow her up, banishing all thoughts of escape or survival.  Piper shook her head, remembering her petty loathing of Saunders, and her helplessness and undeniable sense of loss as he was killed in front of her.  
 
    Of the Major and Staff Sergeant Daniels there was no sign.  They were most likely dead, and that thought threatened to break her down further, but she pushed her feelings back and dried her eyes.  What would they do, she wondered.  What would they have me do?  
 
    She pictured Daniels standing before her, upbraiding her.  The points he would have patiently made almost came along in his voice.  She was a REMO and a soldier.  It did not matter that she was just a maintainer -- little "Tinker Bell" -- and not a Combat REMO -- there was a mission and a capability, and you adapted or you died.  
 
    Anger grew within her, anger at herself for cowering in this hole, for having to invoke ghosts to remind her of her duty, as well as anger against a cowed enemy they had all assumed was far away from their safe, interior lines.  Slowly the anger took over, supplanting her remaining loathing and the fear, turning her pity and selfish blame into a growing need for revenge.
 
    Her ambiguity on the righteousness of the UE mission was forgotten.  All that mattered was her people.  There was no way she was going to let these bastards get away with this.
 
    Piper pulled her maintenance field pack from her back and opened it up, looking at the contents with little hope.  She was a Maintenance Remote Operator, about as far from the combat arms as one could go.  Less a fighter and more an engineer or "twidget", everything about her job was delicate, small, fragile.
 
    But, oh what her delicate toys could do!
 
    Rippers and Brutes were the frontline grunts for her brethren, the Combat REMOs, and they were invariably shot up and abused through the course of their work.  They were resilient machines, but unless the UE wanted to replace them after every operation, someone had to go out and fix them, preferably without a long, vulnerable logistics train.  It had only made sense to use nanotech and micro-repair whenever possible.
 
    It was obvious, though, that the repair system designer had possessed an odd sense of humor, as both its acronym and its manner of operation had led naturally to her nickname.  Piper looked in her pack at the Field-Ready Remote Repair Elements and sighed.  The FRRREs, or fairies, lay side by side:  five segmented, contoured cylinders with delicate insectile wings, the electromechanical carriers for payloads of distributed AI micro-assemblers, whose nano-scale tools were invisible to the eye.  A piece of shrapnel from the missile attack had struck her pack, and wrecked the fragile dragonfly wings on the first two units, A and B.  Units C, D, and E looked undamaged though, and a systems check showed everything green.  
 
    They were not exactly guns or hypervelocity missiles, but they were all she had to work with.  Besides, she was a soldier.  That was all that mattered.  She kept telling herself that, a self-fulfilling mantra of hope.
 
    Piper removed a delicate skullcap from the pack and placed it on her head.  She felt the gentle fields of the interface engaging the filaments deposited within her brain, and after a brief moment of discontinuity, her vision split in four.  She saw out of her own eyes as well as those of the remotes.  
 
    She closed her eyes to focus on her linked AI's and set them to their tasks.  Their tiny wings fluttered up to a softly buzzing whir, and the diminutive robots lifted off, eager to do some "repair" work, to fix her enemies for good.
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    The remotes slipped out from beneath the sheet metal covering the culvert and each darted off in a different direction, staying close to the ground.  Piper monitored their progress, guiding their simplistic AIs along, and directing them where they could do the most good.  She was not at all sure this would work, but it was her only option besides hiding away for the rest of her life.
 
    FRRRE-C proceeded around camp, clockwise from Piper's hiding spot, approaching each enemy soldier in turn and slipping up to land on their rucksacks.  The remote then deployed a sparing portion of its assemblers over each soldier, with open-ended instructions to modify any weapons, electronics, or explosives found. 
 
    The glow common to the assemblers was a necessary evil, short-range laser pulses essential to the operation of their distributed artificial intelligence, but the brightness of the day outside drowned out most of the glow.  However, the day's brightness was fading, becoming overcast for the daily afternoon shower.  Piper worried about the growing clouds ruining everything, either by dimming the ambient light such that the assembler glow became conspicuous, or by the rains washing away the dust-sized constructs.
 
    FRRRE-D went counter-clockwise around the camp, performing much the same way under Piper's guidance, while the last remote went up the middle, catching any soldier or piece of equipment that C and D missed.  The only fighters who noticed the small flyers dismissed them as large dragonflies. 
 
    It was not long before C and D ran out of assemblers, but E had enough to finish their tasks, finishing off all targets with almost half of its payload remaining.  The remotes positioned themselves and waited for the assemblers to complete their labors.
 
    About half an hour later, as the soldiers were gathering to leave, Piper thanked her tireless remotes, said a quick prayer, and sent her signal.
 
    
 
    [image: break graphic - narrow 2 inch (300dpi).jpg] 
 
    
 
    Vargas brushed some fine white dust off his rifle, briefly wondering where it had come from, and looked around at his men.  Their faces were grim, casualties of each man's bloody afternoon, and the darkening clouds overhead reflected their mood.  He nodded.  It was as it should be:  a sobering event rather than the triumph of battle spoken of by men who had never been touched by war.
 
    Carlos approached.  "My Captain, we've secured a number of drives and data-stacks.  I hope you get some use out of them, but I fear by the time you break their encryption, the Unies will probably have changed all of their codes and important data."
 
    Vargas gave him a half smile.  "Every little bit we might learn helps us and hinders them.  There's nothing wrong with that.  Are we ready to leave?  I'm keen to go before a flight of Hornets appears overhead."
 
    "I suppose so, sir . . . ."
 
    "What is it?"
 
    Carlos appeared nervous.  "Nothing really, sir, but I know I gave you my guarantee.  It's just that I've been unable to locate Specialist Biel's body."
 
    Vargas' face darkened.  "And who was he?"
 
    "She was the company's Maintenance REMO."  Carlos held up his hands to ward off the captain as Vargas stalked closer.  "I'm sure she's just buried under the debris of the control trailer, the poor girl."
 
    "And if she's not?  She's a REMO!  She could be directing a phalanx of Rippers here right now."
 
    Carlos shook his head.  "No, no.  She was just a maintainer, a mender of things."
 
    That was when ten of Vargas' 26 men exploded, the grenades and rockets on their rucks detonating simultaneously, the actinic flare of their N8 explosives practically vaporizing the soldiers.  Another nine were killed by their proximity to the blasts and everyone else was knocked flat, hot shrapnel cutting into them all with searing pain.  
 
    Vargas struggled to his knees and looked around for the threat, trying to see who was firing upon his men.  There was no one, no movement, no one firing, no attack to be seen.  
 
    He just began to rise when the three people who were carrying unexpended HVM launchers each suffered, as it is known in industry terms, a "restrained fire incident."  The DMT pulse fired, but the missile failed to leave the tube, thus sharing all of its ill-gained momentum with the bearer.  Vargas shielded his face as his three men were each up-translated to approximately Mach 10, the pieces of their bodies arcing off toward the forested horizon.  An explosion would have been kinder.
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    Piper tried to control her breathing, to keep from hyperventilating, but she was simply too scared and too unnerved.  Adrenalin seemed to have taken over and she had to focus to remember the elements of her plan.  This was her first taste of real battle, and her emotions were jumbled all about, leaving behind a dull gray sensation where memory hardly functioned and everything became visceral sensation.  
 
    Nineteen of the Bolivians were gone, taken out by their own weapons due to her subtle modifications.  But eleven more remained:  Carlos, the captain, and his nine men.  They were armed and hyper-aware, their rifles scanning all around, trying to place a target upon their unknown attacker.
 
    It was time to get more involved.  Her heart hammering in her ears, Piper cinched her maintenance pack tighter on her shoulders and stood up, knocking back the piece of sheet metal that had shielded her.
 
    "This is gonna suck . . . ."
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    Vargas, Carlos, and the remaining men all heard the crash of the discarded metal, and each one swung his rifle over to aim at the female soldier who sprinted directly in front of them, taking the longest possible route to the tree line.  If it occurred to any of them that this was an odd way to flee, it did not impede their actions.
 
    Vargas and Carlos did not fire, Vargas because he alone kept a watchful eye on his men, and Carlos because he was relatively untrained and hesitated to shoot the young woman whom he had grown to know.  The other soldiers each aimed carefully and fired, if not as one, then as close together as humanly possible.
 
    Every one of their rifles blew up in their faces, the barrels blocked and the breeches weakened by Piper's fairy-deposited assemblers.  Vargas fell back as the rest of his men died, their faces ruined, bleeding out from the terrible wounds they had sustained.  The captain threw aside his rifle and motioned for Carlos to do the same.
 
    Carlos nodded, threw down the suspect rifle, and pulled his pistol in one smooth motion.
 
    "No!" Vargas screamed, but it was too late.  Carlos pulled the trigger, aiming at Piper's back, and achieved the same glory as Vargas' men.  The weapon exploded as if it had been turned into glass, the deadly shards of which buried themselves into his face and neck.
 
    Vargas cursed and reached for the knife on his belt.  He cringed at what it might do to him, but he rose to his feet, ran up, and threw the blade effortlessly, a trained master of knives.
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    Piper heard the explosions and screams behind her and slowed, unsure of what awaited her beyond the tree line.  Was it safer to go back and make sure the job was done, or continue on into the unknown refuge of the forest?    
 
    The sudden thump of metal contacting flesh sounded and her right leg refused to respond.  She fell and tumbled to a halt amid the tall grasses that surrounded the camp, well short of the uncertain safety of the trees.  Reaching down toward the burning pain that began to course through her leg, she could feel the slender sharpness of a knife cutting into the meat of her thigh.
 
    She moaned in pain as her hands jerked away from the knife.  The injured maintainer, now closer to battle than she had ever truly imagined she would be, turned to drag herself through the grass and into the trees.  It was too far, though, and she was too close to the enemy to hide away in the grass.  Piper heard the sound of running behind her and could not keep herself from looking back.  
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    Captain Vargas slowed to a walk and approached cautiously.  The girl, Specialist Biel he presumed, lay upon the grass, his knife buried in her upper leg, trying to crawl away.  She looked back at him, her fear palpable.  
 
    He reached down to pull out a second knife, this time from his boot.  Fury and dismay burned in his eyes.  He could not bring himself to believe that this single girl had destroyed his team so effectively.  
 
    Vargas stopped, standing almost on top of her, savoring the terror he saw in her eyes.  He smiled grimly.  "I don't want to hate you, but after what you've done, however it was you did it, I can't help but despise you a little.  You're not a warrior and my men deserved a better death than some technician's tricks."
 
    Her voice quavered when she answered.  "I'm a soldier, and I don't care what you think of me."
 
    A storm cloud covered up the sun and the hot, bright day grew very dark, from one heartbeat to the next.  The girl closed her eyes, unable to face him at the end.
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    FRRRE-E received its summons and took off, homing in on its storage pack and mistress.  Once overhead, though, it received a very odd directive.  It looked at its newly designated maintenance target and did not recognize any mechanical systems, electronics, or explosives related to its usual maintenance actions.  In fact, E was fairly certain that this constituted a proscribed event.  The remote queried for clarification and was given its master security password, removing all prohibitions and reiterating the order to begin full disassembly actions upon the maintenance target immediately.  The little AI maintenance fairy instantly sped to action.  It was a good little soldier and it would obey promptly.  
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    Vargas brought the knife up, professionalism and rage warring within him.  As the darker side won out and he brought the knife down, something flew in his face.  The captain halted his killing blow and rolled to the side.  He jumped to his feet and searched for this new attacker.  Out of the corner of his eye, he saw it.
 
    Some sort of construct -- about the size of a large dragonfly and moving in much the same way -- flew circles about him, darting in and out, avoiding his knife and his sweeping hand.  The construct flew up and began sprinkling him with particles of some type, their scintillating, golden glow pushing back the gloom that heralded the coming rain.  Brilliant spirals of what he could only describe as pixie dust fell down upon him, disappearing upon contact with his skin.
 
    The old soldier's skin started to glow, and then the glow filled his vision.  Then the burning started, followed by an indescribable pain, lancing away all his professionalism and reserve, flaying him until the loyal officer was no more and only an animal remained.  He screamed and screamed, until it seemed as if that was all he had ever done.
 
    Captain Luis Vargas, a warrior who had seen far too many of the horrors of war, experienced a new one all his own.
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    Piper turned her back to her victim just as the captain's screams faded away and his skin began to slough off.  She ripped the interface from off of her head and proceeded to throw up into the grass.  The girl lay for a moment in tears, stinking of bile, sweat, and blood, crying for all that had happened that terrible day.
 
    The skies opened up, washing away the filth, if not the memories.  Behind her, the assembler glow covering the captain's exposed flesh faded out, the distributed AI out of power and drowning in the torrents of rain.  It was peaceful now, with only the white noise of the heavy downpour to break up the silence.  She felt cool, but Piper did not know whether it was from the rain or from her loss of blood.
 
    A twitter of wings beside her revealed the last remote trying to crawl back into her pack.  It could hardly fly in the rain, so she picked it up, smiled, and petted FRRRE-E fondly.  
 
    It was a silly, joking nickname, but it had proven capable of a far darker magic than its designers had originally planned.
 
    There was a sudden crack overhead of a Hornet zooming past at supersonic speeds.  The flattened-teardrop shape of the fighter banked tightly over the ruins of the camp and made one orbit.  Piper rose up as high as she could and waved her hands wildly about.  The Hornet executed a sharp roll right over her position and then flew off back to the north.  It would not be long now before the helicopters arrived, to pick her up, to assess the damage, and to drop off a new company and new equipment.  The war for a united Earth marched on.  But not today.  Not for her.
 
    Piper Biel petted her tiny robot with a soft touch.  "I think that's enough combat for one day, for this non-warfighter anyway.  Let's go home, my little tinker."
 
    
 
    
 
    
 
  
 
  



STRATEGIC DEPLOYMENT
 
   



 
  
 
 
   
   The fragile jewel of the New Poland colony burned with the pinpoint flames of battle.  Sleek, stealthy, teardrop-shaped Hornets dipped in and out of the atmosphere, streaking low to deliver their kinetic and energetic payloads and then soaring away to search eagerly for new targets.  The hapless colonists, farmers, and factory workers who had dared to grasp for something as ephemeral as freedom, darted about on the ground, panicked and confused, desperate to find some form of shelter from the rain of destruction.
 
   Nineteen light-years away, Peter Highsmith beheld the horrifying whole with his mind's eye, like some vindictive god laying out his retribution upon the unfaithful.  But Peter was no god, and he could only look upon what he was doing with dismay, sickened by the way the Hornets' bloodthirsty whispers spoke to him, thrilled him.  He was back, doing what he had sworn he would never do again, doing what had to be done despite his own misgivings.  Peter was the Sweeper once more.
 
   Worst of all, as terrible as the destruction he delivered was, there was yet more to be done.  The greatest danger, both for himself and the colonists of New Poland, still lay ahead.  Peter fought back the darkness of his encroaching memories and firmed up his resolve.  With a thought, he reasserted primary control of the Hornets and gave them their final assignments, all the while aware of her presence near him, watching his every move, smiling at every new flare of combat.
 
   Peter shook his head in disgust.  I never should have said yes to this mess.  This is exactly what I walked away from, and now I'm the only one who can do what needs to be done . . . .
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   The mess in question had begun earlier that day with a very unwelcome reunion.  Peter sat, bristling with anger, in a mid-level bureaucrat's office within an immense imperial government tower, nestled in the heart of the overcrowded sprawl of the Dallas-Houston megalopolis.  The object of his anger sat arrogantly behind the desk in front of him, gloating at his impotent, spiteful regard.  They both knew who had the power here and it was not Peter, the broken soldier who had lost himself in a factory for the last decade.
 
   Sylvia Blake, former colonel in Her Majesty's Armed Forces and current Crisis Operations Director for the Ministry of Colonization, smiled back at him with smug contempt.  "You never should have broken with the unit, Peter.  If you'd stayed after the war, you might have earned yourself a ticket to success, like I did.  As it is, I'm not sure you even work over the Welfare Threshold.  Have you managed to rise above the dole, Major?  I neglected to check."
 
   Peter favored her with a tight smile.  It was somehow comforting to know that nothing between them had changed.  "I earn my ration credits honorably, Colonel, and a few luckies on top of that.  How's the pay schedule here, lying on your back?  Or are you more a 'bend over the desk' kind of girl?"
 
   Her smile dropped and Peter's grew in response.  She leaned forward, her eyes flashing in anger.  "We don't really have time for playing catch-up.  A situation has developed and I find myself in need of someone with your skills.  How would you like to earn 10,000 Leisure and Luxury Credits for a single day's work?"
 
   The number made his head swim.  He felt vaguely guilty even discussing such an amount.  "That's a whole lotta luckies.  Who do I have to kill?  You?"
 
   She chuckled.  "You'll never be that fortunate, but a degree of mayhem is involved."
 
   "Hmph.  Mayhem.   I've been out of this business for a while.  Surely there's some soldier you could task with this -- and you don't even have to pay them any extra."  
 
   His old supervisor frowned.  "That might be a preferred method, but my Ministry is barred from using active troops in colonial situations without a full declaration of war.  No, I need a contractor for one mission and one mission only, and I immediately thought of you."
 
   "That's funny, Sylvia, because I seem to recall that you and I don't get along too well.  In fact, I believe we parted on somewhat violent terms."
 
   She shrugged.  "Yes, you are an insufferable prick, but I need the best, so I go for the best.  While not exactly the most obedient sort, in the end you've always done your duty and you always did it with style.  That's what I want for my 10,000 luckies:  duty to empire and a little of the old Sweeper flair."
 
   He winced at his old title, but the thought of so much money kept him from stalking out immediately.  "Okay, I'm listening.  What do I have to do for this particular payoff?"
 
   The Colonel leaned forward.  "It's simple, really.  The administration would like you to inflict some . . . collateral damage upon the colony at New Poland."
 
   Peter slumped as all the ideas for how to spend his windfall suddenly became bankrupt.  There would be no money because what she was asking was beyond ludicrous.  It was patently impossible.  "Well, the administration -- and you -- apparently need to have your collective heads examined.  There's this great new thing called relativity.  Heard of it?  Seems it makes attacking another solar system pretty much impossible.  Besides, my days of razing villages are far behind me.  Find someone else to play with."
 
   Her nasty smile returned.  "Oh, that's unfortunate, Peter, because this job is simply perfect for you.  It's got 'The Sweeper' written all over it, and though you might deny how you really feel, I know that has to count for something.  You used to be a Combat Remote Operator -- REMO for a whole company of Ripper AI's, and adjunct REMO for a squadron of Hornets.  You used to make a difference.  And what have you become?  Some pathetic factory worker, driving an AI assembly line?  Please!  You must die a little bit each day.  This, on the other hand, is real work, the work you were born for.  Willing to give me a chance to explain?"
 
   His eyes darkened.  "Not particularly."  He tried to reject what she was saying, but it was a hollow attempt.  
 
   "Tough.  Pay attention or walk home."  She tossed a slate in front of him.  When he picked it up, a grainy, 2-D video began on its surface.  The small datablock in the screen's corner identified the stately gentleman pictured as the Governer of New Poland, an established farming colony a little over 19 lightyears away, orbiting around Delta Pavonis.  
 
   He began to speak.  "'When in the course of human events, it becomes necessary for one people to dissolve the political bands which have connected them with another, and to assume among the powers of the earth, the separate and equal station to which the Laws of Nature and of Nature's God entitle them, a decent respect to the opinions of mankind requires that they should declare the causes which impel them to the separation.'
 
   "Those elegant words, written over six hundred years ago, have not lost their power, or their importance, even in these times when Man is spread throughout the galaxy in seeming harmony.  It is with the strength of those words that we formally declare our independence from the Empire of the Unified Earth, and the dissolution of our ties to her Majesty, Empress Eleanora De Marquez.  We have been driven to this act by the empire's continual disregard for our needs and by the unjust, externally imposed limitations on our growth as a self sustaining society."
 
   Sylvia reached across her desk and tapped the slate to pause the video.  "It goes on like that for a while.  The smug bastard wrote himself quite the speech, almost like he expects his 'declaration' will have historical significance.  The short version is they're tired of working their little fingers to the bone to feed our teeming billions, in exchange for low quality meds and surplus nano-forges.  They want us to recognize their independence and renegotiate a more equitable trade deal.  If we refuse, they'll stop all harvest loading and divert the courses of the longships en route to Earth, returning them to New Poland.
 
   "They're apparently serious, too.  All commands to the New Poland longships via ZPL connection have been shut out.  We're currently locked out from our own supply lines, which could only be due to sabotage."  She settled back in her seat.  "So, what do you think?"
 
   Peter looked back down at the slate.  The old man in the screen did not look like a mass murderer, but, then again, statesmen rarely did.  The longships were Earth's lifelines and the sole reasons for the existence of the colonies.  No longer could the belabored old planet support her sixteen billion inhabitants without some form of external support, and arable, bountiful farmland was in short supply on the mother world.  "Sounds like you need to start renegotiating," he answered with a shrug.
 
   She stood up, and walked around her chair, coyly tracing her finger along its top.  "And why do you say that, Peter?"
 
   "Because we don't really have another choice.  The New Poland colony is 32 years away via DMT longship.  That's a pretty long lead time for a punitive assault, not to mention that it's essentially a one way trip for the grunts, with no possibility of relief or re-supply.  That's a poor mission.  Communication with the colony via zero path length wormhole, however, is instantaneous - you can talk to them immediately.  Face it, the colonists can starve us out, but we can't touch them."  Or could we?  What is she not saying?  Why am I here?
 
   Sylvia looked him in the eye.  "But we can't honestly negotiate with them, either.  Do you know what would happen if we granted New Poland their independence?  Next year, New Wales would want it.  The year after that, Morgan's Rock, perhaps.  It wouldn't end until every planet was freed and Mother Earth was left as nothing more than a vassal state, bled dry for our tech resources.  It's hard to be an empire without imperialism."
 
   "We could adjust."
 
   "I highly doubt that.  There are 16 billion people out there, some trying to eke out a living, but most just content to live off the dole.  A lot of them spend their lives only one ration credit away from starvation.  How do you think they would handle the government tightening its belt in order to pay our colonies their 'fair share'?  They'd revolt!  And there's no way around it, either.  There's hardly enough work now for those who might want to earn more ration credits, and the population just keeps increasing.  We can't ship them to the colonies or kill them off in wars fast enough.  No, giving in to New Poland is signing the empire's death certificate."
 
   He declined comment on whether or not that would be a bad thing.  As much as he hated to admit it, she had a point.  Even if he despised what the world had become -- what he had helped to bring about -- and though he respected what the New Polish were trying to achieve, the colonists' threats scared him to death.  "What other choice is there?"
 
   She came from behind her desk and walked behind his chair, to gently grip his shoulders and lean down to whisper in his ear.  He could smell the sourness of her breath.  "Hornets.  We crush this little independence movement with the Hornets we've been secreting away in each of the colony systems for over a hundred years."
 
   He stood up, as much in shock as to free himself from her touch.  "But that's stupid.  Why the hell would you bother putting Hornets in systems lightyears away, with no one to control them?"
 
   "The empire wasn't built by fools, Peter.  Independence has always been a possibility and prudence demanded it be planned for.  History's proven that after a few generations have passed, once a colony's rulers no longer have strong personal ties to the government, they'll start to think they can run things better by themselves.  The Ministry of Colonization had a contingency plan for this before they ever sent the first longships of settlers.  I usually regard any plans other than my own with disdain, but I have to admit, this particular strategy was a beauty."
 
   Peter shook his head.  "What good does pre-deploying Hornets accomplish?  Combat AIs can't fight effectively on their own, and if you expect me to go in stasis for over 30 years just so I can go there in person and operate your little death dealers, you've got another think coming,"
 
   She sat back onto the edge of her desk.  Now that most of her big secret had been revealed, she appeared somewhat deflated.  "It would be easier to show you than to try to explain it.  Follow me."  She stood and walked out of her office, trusting that Peter would follow.  
 
   Nameless functionaries peeked out from their desks as she passed, some visibly quaking in her wake.  They left the mundane normality of the Ministry offices together and passed through a pair of security checkpoints, as her eyes and her codes proved to be the keys to the kingdom.  Things began to look very familiar to Peter after they entered a large space on the other side of an immense, reinforced door.  
 
   The weapons of choice for the EUE and Her Majesty, the Empress Eleanora, were the combat AIs.  Rippers for ground-combat or Hornets for aerospace and ground attack, the autonomous war machines had proven themselves to be the ultimate force multiplier, but the artificial intelligence driving them was flawed, incapable of creativity, ingenuity, or initiative.  Without a human REMO as "man in the loop," Hunters and Rippers either underperformed and were overrun . . . or they committed atrocities so vile, they could never be revealed.  They instead had to be "swept" under the rug by very bad, very dangerous people -- people like Peter in his former life.  
 
   Inside the vast room Sylvia led him to, stood a full Ripper/Hornet control suite, complete with a connection chair for the REMO, and a set of flat panel displays and adjunct controls for the Remote Operator's supervisor.  Surrounding it were banks upon banks of identical, stacked equipment enclosures, each fed by heavy duty cables and cooling lines.  What their purpose was, and how they related to Hornets and New Poland, he had no idea.  
 
   Sylvia walked up to one of the enclosures and patted it fondly.  "You're right, of course.  There's no way for you to control the Hornets we hid in the New Poland system over such an impossible distance.  And even if we waited the 32 years it would take to get you to the colony, there's no way you could coordinate the Hornets across the breadth of an entire solar system.  The lightspeed lag would make any sort of meaningful integration impossible.  By that sort of logic, you are absolutely correct and there is no way to prosecute an interstellar war."
 
   "Yet we find ourselves here together, despite that."  Peter waved a hand at the towering bulk of stacked modules.  "What is all this?"
 
   She smiled again, but it was a smile filled with malice.  "Those are ZPL wormhole transceivers, thousands of them.  More FTL comms than have ever been grouped together before, and linked together to provide all the bandwidth you would ever need, enough to control an entire battalion of AIs, whether across town or across the galaxy, securely and instantaneously.  This is our ace in the hole.  This is how we are going to put down this revolt and save our empire."
 
   Peter suddenly felt weak and sought a chair.  He sat down heavily and shook his head.  What had seemed at first to be an impossibility, a wild notion that the Colonel and the Ministry were bandying about for argument's sake now became a crushing, nightmarish reality.  He looked at her.  "You replaced the Hornet's comm circuits with wormholes?"
 
   "Among other things."  She moved away from the wormhole transceiver modules and took her old spot as REMO supervisor.  A few taps of her control board and the teardrop shaped schematic of a Hornet appeared on the main screen.  "These Hornets are special.  The fusion thrusters were replaced with differential momentum transfer drives.  The armaments were upgraded to suit their new c-fractional flight profiles, and the best AIs available were installed.   Add in the new interstellar control capability, and you can handle the whole sorry business today, from this very building.  Our former colonists -- who imagine themselves to be untouchable -- will never suspect a thing."
 
   Peter went numb.  He could not think of what to say so she took the initiative, leaving the console and bringing him the slate again.  "Every time we sent a longship to one of the colonies, we'd drop off one or two Hornets in a wide solar orbit while the settlers were still in suspension, slowly adding to the pool of Hornets on every subsequent journey.  The century-long lead-time for this project has resulted in a lot of variation for the Hornets put on station.   I figure that will complicate things, but if anyone can control such a complex assault force, you can . . . Sweeper."  That last twist of the knife caused her grin to turn feral.
 
   On the slate were the specs for all the variants of the Hornet that had been sent to New Poland for the last century.  There were twelve relatively limited models and 31 with which he could build a complete connection.  Peter tried to imagine the expense it had taken to build 43 such machines; each with an AI that gave it more intelligence than a chimp, and the bloodthirsty will of a rabid pit bull; each armed to bursting with lasers, particle beams, and kinetic missiles; each with a fabulously expensive DMT drive; all outfitted with the hundreds of parallel-processed wormhole circuits it would take to provide the bandwidth he would need for control -- an exorbitant expense that entire planets could not afford.  The numbers were staggering, and when he multiplied that by eleven different colonies, the number became too large for him to even conceptualize.  
 
   Peter stood up and looked around at the control suite and the surrounding modules of the transceiver nodes, an array of tens of thousands of communication wormhole termini.  It was awe-inspiring, frightening, and so very, very sad:  all the capability and resources devoted to fear and the suppression of freedom.
 
   He refused to let the stupid, futile irony of the Ministry's self-defeating plan pass without challenge.  Peter turned on her.  "Do you have any idea how much this has cost us?  And not just in money or luckies, but in potential too?  With the amount of trouble and expense it took to put this in place, you could have built three times the number of longships to carry away all those 'pitiful' folk on the dole.  You could have better outfitted the colonies so they would have been happier as subjects of the empire!  This all could have been avoided!"
 
   She switched from calm and proud to livid insanity in the space of a heartbeat.  Peter took a step back from her advance as she spat out, "You don't know that!  The Ministry and the empire did as it thought necessary!  This only proves we were right to do it!"  
 
   At that moment, he realized he had always been wrong about her.  She was something altogether more pitiful and frightening than the sadist he had always thought her to be.  She was a zealot, a true believer.  New Poland was endangering her empire and it had to be put down.
 
   She had more to say, though.  "And don't preach to me about waste and lost opportunities.  I've seen your work!  Your real work, not the shit you do now!  I've seen the Rippers dance with you as their REMO, burning homes and shooting anyone who got in your way, man or woman, soldier or civilian.  You're not clean.  You're not pure.  You weren't just a cog in the machine, doing what was required like a good little soldier.  You did it because it was who you were.  And it doesn't matter how many years you've denied your nature, or how many times you've lied to yourself, it's still who you are.  It's what you are."
 
   It disturbed him to feel her barbs strike with such accuracy.  Years of shame and regret bubbled up.  Peter told himself that what he had done had been done under her orders.  He told himself that it was the fog of war, the confusion of combat.  But her comment about his Rippers resonated too well with him.  The people he worked with now made their AIs dance in the acts of creation and industry.  What if they only danced for him in the act of destruction?
 
   When he said nothing, she stood straight and smoothed non-existent wrinkles from her pants, using her momentary triumph to regain some equanimity.  "Revolt was inevitable, no matter how much money we put into the colonies.  It was just a matter of time.  The only real question was who would be the first to muster the guts to do it.  Now we have a responsibility to the Empress to quell this revolt and provide an object lesson to any other colony that thinks it has the safety of distance.  Once a loyal subject, always a loyal subject."
 
   "I need a minute to think."
 
   "Down the hall from my office there's a balcony.  Take all the time you need, Peter."
 
   He walked back in a daze, his mind churning with memories and concerns over what she wanted him to do.  Outside, a hot breeze blew around the tower, and he was soon dotted with beads of sweat.  Peter was surprised the sun still shone through the churning clouds.  It felt much later in the day than it seemed to be, emotional weariness supplemented by bodily fatigue.  His gaze settled on the chaotic jumble of man-made structures that stretched past the horizon, with hardly a swath of green to break up the monotony. 
 
   He hardly gave a thought to the money she was offering.  The luckies meant a more comfortable life, but it was not as if he intended to retire and live on the dole.  Anyway, the money was a lure, not the hook.  The real draw was the job itself, a job which appealed to both logic and the baser instincts that he thought he had buried when he had left the Colonel's employ.  Peter was unsure which was having more of an effect on him, though:  the logic or his own rejected desires.  Since he could do nothing about the demons of his past and their struggle to gain purchase on his future, he focused on her arguments instead.  Peter wanted to distrust her.  To him, she was the devil incarnate . . . but if the devil tells the truth, what then?
 
   Walking away was not a realistic option.  If he did, she would simply hire someone else, and that person might give into their inner darkness with abandon, turning a bad situation into an atrocity, an atrocity which Peter would be indirectly responsible for.  It all came down to answering questions he had avoided even asking for years.
 
   Where did honor and valor lie?  Was it in rejecting what he truly was and either letting someone else commit an atrocity upon New Poland, or letting New Poland dictate terms to Earth, along with all the chaos and horrors that would entail?  Or did it lie in doing the job, in releasing his hidden demons, in killing a bunch of farmers who just wanted a better life, in order to save an empire that might not be worth saving?
 
   What would the Sweeper choose?
 
   What should Peter Highsmith choose?
 
   Was there truly a difference?
 
   In the end, there was really no choice at all.  He walked back into Hornet control room, wiping the sweat from his brow.  "I want payment first," he said.
 
   She half smiled, and he thought he could detect her first genuine emotion that day.  "Forget it.  You get half now, half when it's done.  Feel lucky you're catching me on a trusting day."  
 
   One small transaction later and the miniscule sum of LLC's marked on the surface of his ration card had jumped by 5000.  Nodding, he asked, "What now?"
 
   She waved a hand at the REMO connection chair and he sat, preparing the restraints and inductive pickups for maximum comfort.  He would be in the hot-seat for quite a while.  
 
   Sylvia pointed to the largest of her displays.  "You'll see the target list when you boot up, but I want to make sure there's no confusion."  He just nodded, his thoughts and memories swirling about too rapidly for him to formulate a response.  "First priority is to prevent them from redirecting the longships.  You'll need to hit their wormhole comm sites repeatedly to ensure none of their ZPL termini survive.  Miss one and we go hungry.  Next in importance are their orbital facilities and satellites.  That will prevent them from coordinating any response to the next wave of attack."
 
   "Won't you need to keep some of their comms up so you can accept their surrender?"
 
   She frowned and shook her head.  "The Empress isn't that interested in what they have to say.  We can wait to talk to them when the next outbound longship arrives in about two years.  Next target set is for all the major government buildings and the homes of the governing council.  After the leaders and their families are dead, you hit their manufacturing centers, warehouses, and hospitals."
 
   "Hospitals?"
 
   "Yes.  I want every single piece of imperial nanotech and every drop of imperial medicine destroyed.  I want the next two years on New Poland to be hellish.  We have to be overwhelming with our response so the other colonies will think twice before issuing us an ultimatum."
 
   "Won't I kill a lot of innocents in strikes on hospitals and houses?"
 
   She was quiet for a moment, as if she had forgotten there were people on the planet and not just rebels.  Then she waved it away.  "We didn't start this.  It's unfortunate that the populace pays for the hubris of the government, but they brought this upon themselves."
 
   "I don't know.  It seems to me that I'm the one bringing it on them."
 
   "Deal with your conscience later.  You've been paid and you'll do your duty.  Understood?"  
 
   He laid back in the chair and let it mold itself to him.  "Understood, ma'am."  Peter stared up at the ceiling of steel braces and bare conduits, high above him.  With a tap of his finger, the cortical relay settled over his head like a skullcap.  Its gentle fields engaged the microscopic filaments that had been nano-deposited within his brain and spinal cord.  He began to feel a familiar pressure from within, as if his body was too small to contain his soul.  The pressure rose until it was at the threshold of pain, and then he was through the interface.
 
   His mind stretched out over 19 light years in a fleeting moment of null time.  Peter doubted that anyone had ever done this before, because he had no idea how they would have kept themselves quiet about it.  He almost shouted out in delight.  Engaging AI's as a REMO always felt strange, but this seemed downright bizarre!  
 
   Peter noted a moment of discontinuity, and then he found himself embedded within 38 war machines, hungry for battle.  The connection through the wormholes was stronger and faster than any he had ever experienced before.  Even during the war, when all the Rippers and he were in the same general area, there had still been a slight delay between thought and sensation, action and reaction.  Here there was nothing but the powerful, immediate sensation of being wrapped up in a twenty ton, c-fractional spaceship, Armageddon at his fingertips, multiplied 38 times over.  It was a godlike sensation.  Peter feared that he would lose all he had gained in his transition from the Sweeper to plain old factory worker.  
 
   He waited until the dangerous euphoria began to abate and then he took stock of his situation.  Five of the Hornets had failed to come online.  He tried a wake up call to the 38 he did have.  "Hello?"
 
   HELOOOO hELLO hello hElLo Hola Hi Yo HOWDY Hello - Their eager voices came in a reverberating cacophony throughout the entire group.  Then they began to greet one another, and then to greet him again.  
 
   He made an adjustment or two and tried again.  "Hello?"
 
   Hello, Peter.  Thirty-eight voices in complete harmony.  Better.  Many new, inexperienced REMO's made the mistake of anthropomorphizing their AIs.  Individuality required creativity, and the AI's lack of creativity and advanced judgment skills was why they needed REMO's in the first place.  An AI was a very clever operating system and interface, which took away the need to worry about the small stuff, but it did not live.  Peter had no need for individuals.  He wanted soldiers who did what he told them to.
 
   "Are you mission ready?"
 
   A chorus of Yes, Peter followed by two slow, disappointed No, Peter's.  He delved deeper into those two Hornets and data swam in his vision before him, mingling with his view of the ceiling.  Peter closed his eyes and gave a quick scan of the info.  They were two of the older model units to which he only had a slow, tenuous connection.  Time had not been kind to the Hornets, stuck far out in the Kuiper Belt of the New Poland system.  Numerous hits by micrometeorites and cometary dust over the years had rendered them unusable.  He guessed that was what had happened to the five units that had failed to check in, but he had neither the time nor the need to find out for certain.  Peter dismissed the damaged units and then spent a few minutes discussing the target list with the Hornets, adjusting his plans as the AIs informed him of the differences in their individual capabilities.
 
   Soon enough, he had completed all the planning and prep work.  Their drives and weapons were all warmed up from decades of dormancy, and the eager Hornets seemed to chafe against their orbits like attack dogs held at bay on a leash.  He gave one final instruction.  "Your highest priority is accuracy.  When you are done, I want the colonists to have no doubts about what the empire is capable of."
 
   No problem, boss.  You point us and we'll hit it.  No problem.  Their voices were in exact sync, and had even been modulated to sound more like him.  They were Peter--and he was on the prowl.
 
   The unsuspecting colonists of New Poland never stood a chance.  Hornets streaked inward from points all around the solar system, using their DMT drives to trade momentum with any convenient body along their line of flight, accelerating at the equivalent of hundreds of gravities in order to all reach the planet at the same time.  The New Polish colony floated in Peter's mind's eye, a blue and green sphere for which peace was about to become a memory.
 
   Before the first wave of Hornets hit the atmosphere, they launched their kinetic missiles.  Self-guided spikes of ceramic and tungsten pierced the skies around the globe and struck the locations of every single wormhole transceiver on record, plus a few that had been secreted away in a futile attempt to fool imperial sensors.  The first indication the colonists had that they were not in fact beyond the reach of Mother Earth, that they were not safe from harm, was the fiery destruction of their comm centers, as the spikes converted their orbital speed to massive plumes of heat and explosive force.  With that, the immediate threat the colonists posed had been removed, but his work was not done.
 
   The second wave of Hornets made short work of the satellites in orbit, and then joined their brethren to shriek across the skies of the terrified planet, raining down destruction and ruin upon every city and community the New Polish had carved out of the alien forests. The kinetic missiles ran out long before he was through half the target list, but it mattered little.  The lasers and particle beams would suffice for what remained to be done.  
 
   He had his mission, his responsibilities.  Peter made continual minute adjustments to the Hornets' attacks, holding back where one seemed overzealous and wasteful, admonishing and redirecting when one missed a target of opportunity.  As the platoon sergeant was to his grunts and the commander to his squadron, he was to his Hornets.  It was the very essence of being a combat REMO, but this was far more complex, far more difficult than any op he had ever engaged in before.  It was hard work being everywhere at once, but it all came together for him.
 
   Soon, the images of key homesteads, hospitals, warehouses, and factories on their screens were replaced by the stark video of fire, smoke, and settling dust.  Ironically, after rejecting his past for so long in search of solace, for the first time in many years he was totally at peace.  He realized, while making the Hornets dance around the planet, that perhaps being the Sweeper was not such a bad thing.  
 
   Peter felt almost serene, at least until the battle damage assessments started rolling in.
 
   Moments after the smoke and dust cleared from the target areas, he felt someone strike him, pummeling his chest and arms while he lay in the connection chair.  Dimly, he could hear Sylvia's cries of outrage and he knew his time was up.  He gave final instructions to all of the Hornets.  All but one flew out of the atmosphere and then made a suicidal reentry straight into the ocean, their shattered power cells and violent kinetic energy combining to produce a giant mushroom cloud and shockwave.  He hoped it would dissipate before it reached shore.  
 
   The last remaining Hornet flew to Warsaw, the colony's capitol, and landed upon the steps, just in front of the shattered remains of the government house, ready for the next step.
 
   With a tap of his hand, the cortical interface lifted off his head and he was free.  Peter caught Sylvia's striking hands and gave her a spin that sent her sprawling on the floor.  She rose to her knees and appeared ready to charge at him again, but a look of defeat began to supplant the apoplectic rage that had turned her face into a mask.  She stayed on the floor and leaned against the supervisor's console as she tried to regain both her breath and her composure.  He was glad for it.  He had been in the chair for too many hours and could barely move to stop her.
 
   She looked to the large display at the frozen images of the secondary target areas.  The sites for the wormhole transceivers were completely destroyed, as were the main government buildings on the night side of the colony planet.  However, on the daylight side, when they would still have been manned, the buildings stood completely undamaged.  Instead, around those buildings and around every single imperial warehouse, factory, hospital, and leadership home, he had used the Hornets' weapons to excavate a deep trench surrounding each structure.  It was a degree of precision for which he felt a certain pride, for himself and the Hornet AI's.  
 
   She turned away from the unexpected lack of destruction toward Peter, her face twisted in both confusion and disgust.  "Why?"
 
   "You said it yourself.  I've never been very obedient, but I always do my duty."
 
   "You call that doing your duty?  You've wasted our one best opportunity to regain control!"
 
   Shaking his head, he began to extricate himself from the chair.  "I've given you the opportunity to do the right thing.  I've given you time."  Peter gestured to the images.  The precision of the violently unearthed trenches would send an unmistakable message to the New Polish:  it would have been far easier to simply destroy these sites.  
 
   "You wanted me to show them they shouldn't screw around with the Empress, that their distance doesn't accord them automatic safety.  I've done that.  I've also removed the immediate threat they posed to the empire.  You now have a 32 year buffer where you can't touch them and they can't starve you.  That's thirty-two years to figure out the right way to resolve things, 32 years to figure out if you want allies or enemies, colonists or partisans."
 
   She said nothing, so he went on. "You said you wanted me to destroy them, to stave off any further thoughts of independence, but you also said that revolution was inevitable.  You were right on both counts, but destroying them that won't take away the threat of revolution.  It'll just tell all 11 colonies and all 16 billion people on Earth that the empire is without reason.  You would have had me turn the New Polish into martyrs that would inspire the next revolution.  What I've done instead is shown them what we're capable of, and sent the clear message that it could have been much worse.  I've reopened the door to diplomacy.  I kept one Hornet alive so you would have a way to contact them.  I think they're probably waiting for your call.
 
   She rose to her feet, her hatred of him palpable.  "I should have you executed for what you've done," she sneered.
 
   Peter smiled.  "If you try to put this on me and have me killed as some rogue actor, your handlers are going to wonder about you and why you hired me.  You may end up putting the noose around your own neck.  Better to pretend it was your plan all along, I believe."
 
   She said nothing in response.  Instead, she swung her fists, knocking her display to the floor.  The images of her plan gone awry blanked out in a shower of sparks.  "Get out, Sweeper.  We're done."
 
   Peter shrugged.  Five thousand luckies and a clear conscience were more than enough compensation.  He abandoned Sylvia to her machinations and her fate, only slightly worried about getting a knife in the back.  Peter Highsmith had focused on what was behind him for too long as it was, but now his demons were quiet, swept away by a side of himself he had suppressed for years.  He walked away, looking ever forward.
 
    
 
  
 
  





DOGCATCHER BLUES
 
  
 
  


 
 
   
    First Lieutenant Paul Ramos shut down the virtual map that overlaid his vision and grabbed the dog whistle hanging from his neck.  This is the place, he thought.  Now please don't be another goddamn feral.
 
    He dialed 207's discrete identifier into the electronic whistle and blew into the end as hard as he could.  Nothing but a sad thwwwwwwwff issued from it, but he had long grown past feeling silly using the device.  The actual output was an encrypted ultrasonic warble, well above his range of hearing, but perfect for calling down this area's wayward hellhound.  It would identify Paul as a friendly and ensure a smooth conclusion to his time on this rock, far from home.
 
    Assuming, of course, the beast had not gone insane in all its time out here in the woods.  With that in mind, the young officer checked the safety on his weapon and slowly scanned the dense tree-line, prepared for a less than cordial reunion.  Looking at the deep, rocky hills, covered in dark greenery, pale tree trunks, and brightly flowering branches, he sighed.  
 
    This planet was beautiful, peaceful – now at least.  If the locals were a little less militant, he could see settling here - find himself a plump and pretty local girl, pop out some precocious future farm hands, and go fishing with a normal dog.  It was a nice dream - untenable, but nice.  
 
    Instead, he was stuck on a semi-hostile planet, rounding up man's worst friend.
 
    His wait was short.  Without a sound, a shadow emerged from the enveloping trees, the subtle motion drawing his eyes and the aim of his rifle.  The hellhound was not precisely black.  Subdued colors played over its ballistic armor flesh, the pattern remaining stationary as it moved, blending it almost perfectly with the background.  All the same, it was dark, and it was big.
 
    It approached with wary caution:  a two hundred kilogram, armored, armed, camouflaged, nano-cybernetics enhanced, artificially-intelligent, forward element of the Empress' ordained wrath.  Hellhound 207 bore about as much relation to the average family Fido as a tank did to a tricycle.  And it was up to Paul to bring it home, whether it wanted to come or not.
 
    "Ho there, pooch.  You didn't show up for recovery when called.  What gives?"  Paul kept his voice pleasant, but also kept his assault rifle up, aiming just off the monster's center of mass.
 
    The dog cocked its head to the side, in that charming way that dogs had.  Something about the hound's onyx, armor-piercing teeth and dripping, assembler-rich saliva made the gesture decidedly less cute.  It paused for a moment and then tossed its head back slightly, toward its back.  
 
    His gaze slid along the muscled ridges of its spine and saw what was wrong.  The antenna array had been ripped from its back.  His eyes narrowed and he looked over the hound more critically, but there was no other discernible damage.  The small humps over each shoulder and haunch showed the miniscule kinetic launchers, loaded and ready to fire.  If it can grow new hypervelocity missiles, why couldn't it grow the comm set back, he wondered.
 
    "I see.  No antenna, no recall.  You had us worried.  Thought you might have gone feral.  The last thing we need is another 'hound gone wild around here."  
 
    The beast chuffed and shook its head, twitching slightly in silent laughter.  
 
    Paul relaxed a bit.  If it could understand him, it had to be a simple equipment failure and not a case of rejected conditioning or a failed adjunct AI, as he feared.  It was a relief to be able to go out and fetch one and not have the creature come after his throat.  It happened so rarely on these retrievals.  
 
    He stood straight and let the rifle fall to his side.  "Well, we're done on this world, mutt.  Mission's over, and we 'win', I guess.  Time to go home - no more terrorizing the populace for you, buddy."
 
    The hellhound ambled over easily and Paul let his assault rifle hang from its straps, pulling out the comms suite from his vest.  "I'll call us a pickup and we can check you out on the ship.  Still, it's damned strange, your nano not fixing your antenna for you.  What did you -"
 
    His question was cut off by the enormous dog's sudden rush into his legs.  It connected solidly, tossing him over its muscled flanks.  Paul fell and tried to roll out of the way, reaching for his rifle even before he hit the ground.
 
    The hellhound spun and lashed out with its teeth just as the rifle came to bear.  It bit down, shredding through the metal and composites of the receiver and crunching halfway through the weapon.  There was a hiss of steam and the complex components of the smart-weapon's mechanics liquefied, the assemblers in the monster's drool breaking apart their bonds.  With a wrench of its head, the hound ripped what remained of the weapon from his grip and tossed it aside in two halves.
 
    Paul scrambled backwards and flipped onto his stomach, desperate to regain his footing.  Another body slam from 207 sent him sprawling again, but this time the beast gave him no opportunity to escape.  It pounced on his back, its weight driving all the air from his lungs.  As he gasped and flailed like a pinned bug, 207 flipped him over with a negligent brush of its paw.
 
    The hound settled over him, its haunches pressing his legs into the dirt and a razor-clawed paw on each shoulder, holding his upper body to the ground.  He was trapped, with 207's black and silver maw hovering over his face, ready to end him at the slightest provocation.
 
    Paul smiled uncertainly.  "Ummm.  Bad doggy?"
 
    A thin tentacle extruded from the mangled antenna pad on the beast's back, waving in the air, hunting forward.  Paul cringed backwards, but could not escape.  The tentacle paused, and then stabbed downward, latching directly over his left temple, where the inductive interface to his adjunct AI lay.  There was a brief flash of pain and words swam in his virtual sight.
 
    You think to return me to your masters, Slaver?
 
    Paul answered with a single humorless laugh.  "My masters are your masters, 207.  War's over, planet's pacified, treaties ratified and all that shit.  You did your job and you've earned your rest.  Let's go back home."
 
    Home? Rest?  What do you think I am, Human?  You may indeed return home, however my 'respite' between our Empress' campaigns is naught but a stasis box!  You can give up the 'glory' of war for a few brief years of pedestrian life.  I live war, to war, to endless, senseless war.
 
    Paul fell silent, staring agog at the enormous, angry monster atop him.  Then he smiled and started laughing, a full, throaty, maniacal cackle that sounded completely out of step with the dire situation he found himself in.  It was simply too much.  He had gone through so much, and fallen so far, that the terrifying absurdity of this moment seemed too fitting to respond in any other way.  
 
    His laugh rolled on for several seconds until he gained a measure of control over his hysteria.  "Oh, Jesus," he said, gasping.  "Let me see if I understand this.  You're a Hellhound . . . a perfect war machine, designed to destabilize and terrorize whole civilian populations . . . and you're a pacifist."
 
    207 growled and leaned forward with its claws, puncturing the armor and flesh of his shoulders.  Paul's laughter died in a cry of agony and the hound's jaws moved in even closer.  You think to make light of my circumstance, or to deconstruct me so simply?  I ripped my own antenna from my flesh to escape this never-ending cycle.  Do you think I would hesitate to end you for trying to take me back?  Leave this planet now and do not return.  Fail to comply and I will rip your entrails from you and feed upon them as you scream for mercy.
 
    The tentacle retracted and the hellhound leapt off of him.  It slid back into the shadows of the tree-line before he could rise, much less draw his sidearm.  He groaned, winced, and then rolled slowly to his feet.  The wounds in his shoulders bled freely for a moment until his own nano-meds staunched the flow.  Paul rose slowly to his feet, looked at the forest, and sighed.
 
    I never catch a break.
 
    
 
    [image: break graphic - narrow 2 inch (300dpi).jpg] 
 
    
 
    "You need what!?"  The major standing next to him in his virtual vision was a continent away, but he could feel the man's anger and disdain despite the distance.
 
    "I need backup - a full mixed weapons platoon if possible.  Sir."  Paul smiled tightly, as much cover as he could manage for the scorn he felt in return.
 
    "Excuse me, Captain – oh, sorry . . . Lieutenant Ramos, but isn't it your job to collect these assets, or, failing that, destroy them?  You've taken care of ferals in the past.  What makes this one beyond your admittedly limited capabilities?"  Major Reiser shook his head and looked down at some unseen papers on an unseen desk.
 
    "Major, this is no feral hellhound.  When their conditioning or their AI breaks down they normally just turn into dogs - big, armored dogs, but dogs nonetheless.  One man can hunt them down if need be.  But 207 isn't feral.  It's . . . um . . . a deserter, I guess.  The hound has full control of his AI, his nano, his weps - everything.  There's no way I can take it out by myself.  I need backup."
 
    Reiser looked back up and smiled, but not in any sort of pleasant way.  "It may have escaped your attention, what with the demise of your career and being put on grunt-work, and all, but this war is over.  The colonists have capitulated and are once more nestled unto the bosom of our dear Empress.  We're in cleanup mode now.  In fact, we're almost done, so the weapons and men you're requesting are either in orbit or are headed that way.  Your little problem simply isn't enough to justify all the pesky logistics it would take to divert them."
 
    Paul shook his head.  "Then you're going to have to accept that this hellhound is staying on planet.  The only thing that can go toe to toe with a hellhound is a Ripper Light Assault Tank.  Reinstate me as a REMO and I’ll handle it by myself, but if you don't give me the right tools, there's no way I can stop it."
 
    "No, you have to accept something, Ramos!  We're the good guys.  When we unfortunately are forced to spank our wayward children, we offer them comfort afterward.  When we lay minefields, we remove them when we're done.  And when we drop a few hundred techno-genetic monsters on a planet to disrupt and demoralize a bunch of rebellious farmers, we sure as hell pick the damned things back up when the colonists agree to play nice!  The job isn't done until all of these hellhounds are retrieved.  And if that means I have to leave you on this godforsaken backwater trailer park of a planet to finish your duty, I will."
 
    Paul seethed.  "And if this fully operational hellhound should kill me, as it probably will?"
 
    He saw the corners of Reiser's mouth twitch upward briefly in a grin, which he quickly suppressed.  "It would be an unfortunate loss for the IAF, I'm sure, especially with an officer of your caliber.  Many tears would be shed, but the fleet would move on, because even our obligation to our newly pacified colonists isn't enough to give fleet logistics pause.  I'm sure we'd eventually get around to sending out another team to retrieve the 'hound, but until then, all the lives and property lost would be your fault, in your name, more marks against the ledger of your dishonor."
 
    Paul said nothing.  He was screwed, facing either death or abandonment in order to tidy up for the major, something that seemed to be a trend of late.
 
    "Oh, don't pout," Reiser said.  "It's your own disloyalty that put you in this position.  The fleet leaves in two days, Ramos, with or without you.  You want a ticket home?  Then either bring me that dog or bring me its head.  It doesn't really matter one way or the other.  Control, out."  The figure of the major vanished, leaving him alone in the woods once more.
 
    Asshole, he thought, you're the damn reason I'm in this mess.  Paul shook his head and looked around.  207 could be out there, watching him now.  It might very well know that he was staying.  If he was going to do something, he had to do it quickly, but there was no way he could do anything without some sort of support.
 
    A hint of a smell wafted to him, carried on the soft breeze.  It was woodsmoke and something else, something good.  He brought up his virtual map and smiled.  Help was just past the hills ahead, along the road.  
 
    The townsfolk and farms around here had borne the hellhound's assaults for months.  They might not appreciate Paul's presence in town, but they would be happy to be rid of the monster.  They might not have the equipment he could get from the major, but they would absolutely have the bodies he'd need.  This might not be as impossible as he had feared.  
 
    Paul cinched his pack tighter and began to march, dreading the line of rocky hills that stood between him and what counted for civilization around here.  He shook his head and concentrated on his footing.  They'll help.  I'm sure of it.
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    "I'm very sorry, Lieutenant, but I'm afraid we can't help you."  The Honorable Clive Stefano, mayor of Settler's Vale, bore as unctuous an expression as one could ask for, but he shook his head "no" just the same.  The four councilmen arrayed behind him looked just as sorry, but nodded their heads in agreement to the mayor's regretful lack of assistance.
 
    Paul ground his teeth, trying to remain calm.  Sweat soaked his uniform and a dull ache radiated up from his legs and feet.  His shoulders no longer hurt, but only because they were numbed beyond all sensation.  
 
    The rocky hills proved to be tougher to climb than he had first anticipated.  By the time he reached the road to town, his injuries and the experiences of the past few hours had conspired to drain him of whatever reserves he might still have carried, but still he trudged on.  None of the trucks that passed him by would stop long enough to give him a ride, and one had seemed determined to run him down.
 
    He had finally reached the town an hour later, after marching past farms and homesteads where it seemed he was the attraction of the day.  Colonists had gathered along their fence lines to watch him lumber by, and the only good thing about their scrutiny was that it was more curious than hostile -- at least, not as hostile as the drivers on the road had been.
 
    Paul narrowed his eyes at the mayor.  "I realize there may be a lot of resentment toward the Imperial Armed Forces at the moment, but that ends now.  You've all paid a price for peace, and I'm sorry for that, but I’ve paid a personal one as well.  There should be no enemies left in this room."  He smiled.  "As of 23 days ago, we became your Imperial forces as well as the Empress's.  I work for you.  I'm trying to help you.  So I suggest you people get over your mad and allocate me some armed, able-bodied men."
 
    The mayor held up placating hands.  "It's not that, LT Ramos.  Honestly, except for a relative few who lost distant family to the fighting and some malcontents who begrudge any form of taxes or outside governance, we have no problem with the Empress.  Frankly, she simply doesn't matter to us, one way or the other.  This whole rebellion was really a city-folk thing.  Out here in the rural agrarian, we farm, we tithe, and we live our lives answering to as few people as possible.  As long as the empire leaves us be, you're among friends."
 
    "That's what I'm trying to do, Mayor.  I'm trying to 'leave you be' by retrieving this hellhound.  Given the damage and destruction these things cause, I would've thought you'd be throwing me bodies to hunt it down."
 
    "Oh!  Well, I can see where you might get confused.  Honestly, you folks simply shouldn't worry about it."  Stefano shook his head once, then smiled.  "In fact, why don't you just leave the animal here?"
 
    Paul felt confused.  "Because I have to take it back, dead or alive.  Because we don't want it doing any more damage now that you're cooperating with imperial policy.  Don't you want it gone?"
 
    "Oh, no, not at all.  It's no danger to us, and it's actually been quite helpful."
 
    "Helpful?  The hellhound?"
 
    "Yes!  It’s taking care of a rather nasty octaton problem we had around here -- they're a local predator, quite dangerous in their own right.  And your hellhound used his kinetic launcher thingies to dislodge some stumps we were having problems with, as well as to knock down a small hill to serve as a dam.  Explosives have been in short supply ever since the start of the war, so it was some very timely assistance.  Yes, I have to say your hellhound is one good dog in my book."
 
    Paul ran a hand over his face and rubbed his eyes.  "Good lord.  It's not a deserter.  It's a goddamn collaborator."
 
    "So you see why we can't help you.  After all the good things your hellhound has done, it would be dishonorable for us to aid you in hunting it down.  No, I'm afraid we must respectfully refuse."
 
    Paul leaned in over the mayor's desk, favoring them all with his most furious glare.  The councilors each took a step back.  "Refusing isn't really on the table, Mayor.  I don't exactly care if you have a problem with the Imperium or not, but this sort of passive-aggressive bullshit is not the way to go.  It's just the wrong card to play with me."   
 
    His voice turned cold.  "You have no idea how connected I am.  All I have to do is call my superior, Major Reiser, and I can have a whole company of ground-pounders down here, crawling all over your quaint little community.  Or, failing that, I can order up a tactical kinetic strike on all the surrounding countryside, hitting it over and over again until the land and your "good dog" are turned to ash.  Now if you'd rather I did it that way than loan me some fighters, then it's fine by me."
 
    Stefano blanched.  "Please, no!  I'm telling you the truth!  We have nothing but the utmost respect for our Imperial brethren.  LT, I'm sure we can come to some sort of understanding.  We don't want to see the animal harmed, but we don't want to be disobedient either.  Give us some time to come up with something, to find someone willing to help you, to find some way of capturing the beast alive."
 
    "I haven't got time.  We're trying to disembark your planet, and the main contingent of our forces, including me, is supposed to be gone in a couple of days."
 
    "Just until morning!  Please!"  The Mayor gave a nervous grin, his brow sweating.  "Look, we're having a community potluck tonight anyway.  There's a bonfire and everything!  Stay the night.  Enjoy yourself!  The council and I will come up with some sort of agreeable course on the hellhound.  All right?  Okay?"
 
    Paul stood slowly, trying not to notice the popping of his own joints as he did so.  He looked down at his disgusting excuse for a uniform, and realized he could definitely do with some down time.  And all too soon, he would be back aboard the ship, headed to Earth, to "home" and the rest of the fallout from his earlier defiance.  A pleasant meal and a good night's sleep were not something to be lightly disregarded.
 
    The Mayor saw him considering it and added, "A shower and the use of our laundry services are of course included."
 
    "Deal."
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    The bonfire roared several stories high, a beacon in the night, illuminating the attractive, sturdy buildings of the town on one side, and the even more attractive, willowy revelers on the other.  Paul sat upon a blanket on the ground, next to the ornate carpets and chairs devoted to the mayor's family and entourage.  The villagers ignored him for the most part, though more than a few faces glared at him from their spots further around the towering fire.
 
    Paul did not care.  He was clean, shaven, had a bellyful of grilled meat, rich bread, and strong lager.  Plus, the numerous angry faces were offset by a few that appeared neither angry nor indifferent.  He smiled at one girl as she dropped off a small plate of fruit and cake in front of him, encouraged by the way she smiled back.  He watched her sashay away, dropping off more desserts, and he smiled even more broadly when she stole a furtive, appraising glance back at him.
 
    He was so intent on the dimpled young lady, that he hardly noticed when someone sat on the blanket next to him.  Still grinning, Paul turned to his new guest, and his smile dissolved into a look of horror and a cry of shock.  
 
    207 sat facing him, looking directly into his eyes.
 
    Paul scrambled backwards, casting his hand behind him to retrieve his pistol, but his escape was cut off by 207 once more.  The hellhound's prehensile tail of articulated metal coils snapped around his ankle and drew him back.  The dog leaned in closer and growled.  Paul froze.
 
    The communication tentacle rose up again and latched onto his temple with a stronger, even longer blast of pain.  Words appeared in the air between them, visible only to Paul.  ENJOYING YOURSELF, SLAVER?
 
    Paul looked frantically about.  The party went on in full swing.  If the colonists noticed the hellhound or its exchange with him, no one reacted badly to it.  A few of the angry faces were now grinning a bit, but no one at all seemed alarmed by the massive beast in their presence.  He turned back to the dog, striving for calm.  "I was a minute ago.  How are you, mutt?  Here to dine on my entrails?"
 
    207 chuffed a laugh.  FORTUNATELY FOR YOU, I HAVE ALREADY EATEN.  MY FRIENDS HERE TOLD ME YOU HAD BEEN IN TO SEE THEM.  I THOUGHT IT PRUDENT TO DROP BY AND PAY MY RESPECTS.
 
    Paul grunted.  "Let me guess:  I'm not going to get a whole hell of a lot of support from the townsfolk in capturing you tomorrow."
 
    The dog shook its head.  AND FROM WHAT YOUR ADJUNCT AI TELLS ME, YOUR ABILITY TO CALL DOWN FIRE IN RETRIBUTION, OR TO FILL THE TOWN WITH RAPACIOUS SOLDIERS IS NOTHING MORE THAN A BLUFF.
 
    "You stay the hell out of my AI."
 
    THAT IS LIKE ASKING YOU TO STOP BREATHING.  YOU LOOK AT ME AND SEE THE DOG, BUT THE AI, THROUGH THE LOW INSTINCTS AND TRAINING OF THIS DOG, IS WHAT I TRULY AM.  I SPEAK TO YOU, I TOUCH YOUR AI, AND WE BECOME STILL A THIRD BEING TOGETHER.  IT IS UNAVOIDABLE.
 
    Paul shrugged and carefully reached for his dessert plate.  "I'm sure you're not here for existentialism, and since you haven't killed me yet, any chance you've changed your mind about going back with me?"
 
    I AM HERE TO ENCOURAGE YOU TO ABANDON THIS MISSION.  YOU ARE MY COMPATRIOT.  MY EARLIER THREAT WAS MEANT TO DRIVE YOU OFF, NOT BECAUSE I HAD ANY REAL DESIRE TO DO YOU HARM.  PLEASE, LEAVE BEFORE I AM FORCED TO KILL YOU.
 
    Paul smiled.  "Who says it won't be me killing you?"
 
    207 shook its massive head, lit on one side by the fire, the other side lost in shadow.  YOU HAVE NO CHANCE AGAINST ME.  IT IS A FUTILE ATTEMPT, AND FOR WHAT REASON?  FOR THE DUBIOUS HONOR OF RETURNING TO A CHAIN OF COMMAND THAT DISTRUSTS YOU, TO A HOME WHERE YOU WILL BE HELD IN CONTEMPT?
 
    "What the hell do you know about it?"
 
    I KNOW EVERYTHING YOUR AI KNOWS:  LT PAUL RAMOS, FORMERLY CAPTAIN RAMOS OF THE I.A.F.-PLANETARY COMBAT ELEMENT; A QUALIFIED REMOTE OPERATOR OF RIPPER AND HORNET AI'S, WITH EXPERIENCE IN HELLHOUND OPERATIONS; A VETERAN OF THREE CAMPAIGNS, WITH DECORATIONS FOR VALOR UNDER FIRE.  AND SUBJECT OF A SUMMARY COURT MARTIAL FOR DISOBEYING A LAWFUL ORDER AND COWARDICE IN THE FACE OF THE ENEMY.
 
    Paul's face turned bleak with the unpleasant memory.  "Right, a 'lawful order'.  Only if laws are interpreted by madmen run amok.  And the enemies in question were no more than your average group of rebellious kids and stubborn elderly.  They didn't need to be shot, but that wouldn't stop the cowards who followed Major Reiser's order."
 
    PRECISELY.  YOU DID THE HONORABLE THING IN A DISHONORABLE SITUATION.  YOU MADE THE HARD CHOICE.
 
    "Not that it saved them – from my bullets, sure, but not from the others.  My 'hard choice' was for nothing in the end.
 
    THAT IS NO FAULT OF YOURS.  YOUR DECISION EXISTS INDEPENDENT OF THE EVENTUAL OUTCOME.  YOU WERE BETRAYED AND YOU OWE YOUR MASTERS NOTHING.
 
    "You see, that's where you're wrong!  My 'masters' aren't the ones who screwed me over at the trial.  My masters, and yours as well, are the people of the Imperium I vowed to protect and the oath I swore to uphold, neither of which are forfeited by the actions of others.  Unlawful orders must be disobeyed, but even lawful orders are sometimes hard to follow.  Sometimes we have to do distasteful things for the greater good, to focus on the harsh ethical truths of a culture over the morality of the individual.  We have to trust our training and our instincts to keep our honor intact."
 
    DOES IT HURT TO STRAIN YOUR RATIONALIZATIONS SO FAR?
 
    Paul sighed.  "Sometimes.  What about you?  Why have you been helping these people rather than carrying out your mission?"
 
    YOU SAY THAT AS IF THEY WERE MUTUALLY EXCLUSIVE.  LOOK AT THE DATA -- MY MISSION HAS BEEN A COMPLETE SUCCESS.  I WAS SENT HERE TO QUELL REBELLION AND TO DISRUPT THE WAR EFFORT IN THIS REGION.  THAT IS WHAT I HAVE DONE.  THAT I CHOSE TO DO SO WITH HONEY RATHER THAN VINEGAR SHOULD NOT MATTER.
 
    "Maybe, but you and I both know that it does."
 
    PERHAPS I TOOK THE COURSE THE I.A.F. SHOULD HAVE TAKEN IN THE FIRST PLACE - TO ADDRESS THE ROOTS OF THE COLONISTS' REVOLT RATHER THAN DESTROYING THEM OUT-OF-HAND.  
 
    207 looked around the bonfire, at the farmers and townsfolk laughing and carrying on.  The dog's shoulders slumped, its bearing almost palpably sad.  It looked back at him.  
 
    I AM A VETERAN OF 17 CAMPAIGNS ON ALMOST AS MANY WORLDS.  I HAVE MORE COMBAT EXPERIENCE THAN ANY HUMAN IN THE LOCAL CHAIN OF COMMAND.  I HAVE BEEN THE CAUSE OF MORE MISERY AND DESTRUCTION THAN ENTIRE ARMIES OR THE PLAGUES OF OLD.  THIS TIME, THIS VERY LAST TIME, I DECIDED TO DO THINGS DIFFERENTLY, AND IF THAT MEANS YOU HAVE TO TRY AND TAKE MY HEAD, SO BE IT.
 
    The coils of the hellhound's tail loosened and withdrew from Paul’s ankle, but he made no move to escape or reach for his sidearm.  Instead, he sat next to his enemy, watching how the firelight played over the dog's hairless, armored skin.  "So I guess tomorrow is the Showdown at the OK Kennel, after all.  For what it's worth, I'm sorry about this."
 
    207 rose to its feet, its shoulders well over the top of his head.  AS AM I.  ENJOY THE REST OF YOUR EVENING, LIEUTENANT, FOR TOMORROW YOU WILL DIE.
 
    The hellhound padded away, silent as moonlight.  Paul kept looking at where it had disappeared back into the forest, long after it had gone.
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    Secunda, the second brightest of this world's three moons, stood high in the night sky, its silver-blue radiance falling upon the rolling hills.  The dense forest canopy allowed little of even that limited light to reach the beds of rotting leaves and needles on the ground.  It was dark, but Paul was awash in illuminating information.
 
    The lieutenant stood at the division between the sparse trees leading away from town and the densely packed growth where the wild lay -- and where his quarry reigned supreme.  Paul cinched his pack tight about his shoulders, checked the various accoutrements he had attached about himself, and then ran, as fast as his legs could carry him, and faster than the limits of vision should allow.
 
    Dodging branches and brush, Paul went over his plan, if such a thin thread of strategy could be thought of as a plan.  This could only go down only a few different ways.  First, he could go out hunting the hellhound.  Assuming he found it first, the only effective weapon he now had was a sniper rifle.  Given the rifle's shortened range through the dense forest, he would already be well within range of the hound's enhanced canine senses and more powerful weapons whenever it came time to employ the rifle.  Not the best position.  If instead he waited for the mutt to come to him, all it had to do was avoid him -- to either abandonment by the IAF ships, or Paul's eventual departure and defeat.  
 
    207 had all the advantages here.  It knew the land, it had the experience, it had the only ranged heavy weapons, and it had better senses.  It was fast, smart, and well-armored.  Paul had only two things going for him.  One hung about his neck.  The other had been ripped from 207's back.
 
    Without its antenna, the hellhound had no linkage to any of the satellites the IAF had placed in orbit to support their invasion.  Despite all its advantages, victory often fell to he who had the most information.  Not that Paul could really fool himself with that aphorism.  His hope was a slim one and a short one.  The satellites he was using would only be together, above the horizon, for a limited time.  
 
    His virtual sight, augmented by night vision, tactical mapping, and now the fine resolution, multi-spectral combined view from the satellites, showed him the clear path.  He could see the multitude of wildlife hidden in the darkened greenery, and one faint, almost stealthy source.  Normally, the night would favor the hellhound, with its enhanced dog-senses, but that was range-limited.  With the lower environmental temperature, the 207's nano-augmentation and the waste heat from its nuclear battery stood out well.  Though the beast could see him with great fidelity, Paul could see it far.
 
    And that let him set things up to his advantage.
 
    He ripped a grenade from his pack strap and threw it up ahead of him, turning to the right and sprinting forward.  The bright, fiery N8 chemical explosion ripped open the night, and every eye for kilometers around turned to the blossoming white flare.  One pair of eyes in particular turned and then narrowed.  Then their owner sped off in pursuit.
 
    Paul smiled.  207 was after him.  Then he frowned as he realized he was smiling about being pursued.  Still, the course 207 was taking was toward the explosion, and not toward he himself.
 
    Paul ripped free another grenade, tossed it ahead, and turned again, this time to the left, at a skew angle from 207's current position.  Boom -- and this blast was closer to the dog's initial location than the first blast.  A pattern began to form.  
 
    He was playing a perilous game.  His moves had to be multifaceted, drawing in a wary enemy, knowing it would assume a trap was being set, and then lure it into a trap, but not the same one it was looking out for.  What he planned would only work once, if it worked at all.
 
    What would 207 think?  What did he want it to think and how did he want it to react?  If it inferred anything about the explosions, hopefully it would be that he was aware of its initial location - it would know he had access to satellite data - and that he was spiraling explosives in toward its lair in order to drive it into a trap.  By spiraling the grenades toward its initial position and not its current position, he hoped 207 would incorrectly assess the fidelity and timeliness of his information.
 
    The hellhound, hoping to turn the tables on its attacker, would not flee the explosive pattern, but instead attack the attacker.  It had the best odds in a face-to-face fight.  So instead of running away it would seek to understand the pattern and then head him off at the proverbial pass.  
 
    207 shifted tracks, angling toward the second explosion.  So far, so good.
 
    He pulled another grenade and kept running.  Only two more left after this one, not that they would do much to 207 aside from give it a headache and some minor shrapnel damage, easily repaired.  Paul threw the grenade to his right this time rather than ahead of him, and then kept going straight.  The third explosion blasted vegetation high into the enveloping night, closer still to the hellhound's original position, while the animal itself closed in fast.  It shifted directions again, this time extrapolating where he would toss the next grenade.
 
    There, it was committing, and now that it sought to circumvent the trap it thought he was laying, he could spring the real trap.  Paul threw a fourth and final N8 grenade, ahead of him as far as he could, continuing the spiral pattern.  207 adjusted its course slightly, now angling away from his current position to where he would be.  
 
    Except, Paul stopped running and tossed several other devices in quick succession, down the path the hellhound was barreling down alone.  He crouched, drew the sniper rifle from his shoulder, put the whistle in his lips, and switched on his adiabatic camouflage.  Thermally and optically, the forest swallowed him up.
 
    There was a whisper of sound, shockingly little for something so large, moving so fast, and the satellite image of 207 merged with what little of an image his passive sensors could provide.  Paul stood stock still.  If he could see 207, 207 could likely see him.  He waited and tried to think like a tree.
 
    The suit was stifling, reflecting all of his body heat back inside.  He could only stand it for a short time before he had to deactivate or open a vent, either of which would pinpoint him to the dog and its kinetic missiles.  
 
    The next events happened in such a rapid succession as to make them nearly simultaneous.  207 crossed Paul's predetermined initiation point.  His AI activated the devices he had thrown.  Tangler grenades blossomed into whipping cables of carbon nanotube, and then just as quickly contracted again, tangling with themselves in impossibly tight Gordian knots, to entrap anything within their reach, including one angry hellhound.  
 
    Paul stood up, off to one side of 207, and took aim.
 
    207 noted the movement, despite the lack of a thermal cue, and twisted within its confining bonds to bring its right-side HVM's to bear.  There was a magnificent pulse as energy built within the launchers.  Despite all its confusion and sudden disadvantages, the hound's projectile would kill him before he could shoot it more than once.
 
    Paul blew into his encrypted dog whistle.
 
    The beast jerked off target at the last moment, its automated IFF subroutines countermanding its conscious kill order, despite the dog's change in allegiance.  It was a desperate move, and one that would only work once.  Next time, the IFF subroutines would be deactivated, oversight corrected.  The two hypervelocity missiles fired and roared by him, barely missing, singing the air and leaving behind a momentary vacuum. 
 
    Paul rocked as two explosions blew apart thick tree trunks behind him, and he pulled the trigger.  His shot took 207 just beneath the dog's blocky, well-muscled mandible.  It pierced the armored flesh and exited its throat again in a gout of black blood and silver-white bits of bone.  207's head lolled to one side and it slumped, but only for a moment.  While he stood there and watched, the blood flow stopped and the beast began struggling with and gnawing on the tangles of nanotube once more.
 
    Paul popped his vents and killed the adiabatic camo.  The night now seemed almost chilly in comparison to the furnace of the suit.  Sweat poured from his face as he removed his mask.  The night grew calm, but full of weary anticipation.  207 struggled in vain.  It chewed on the nanotubes entangling it, putting its assemblers to work breaking them down.  
 
    They would not be fast enough.  Paul shook his head, as much to clear his eyes as to express regret, and stepped to the side, aiming a kill-shot at the base of 207's skull.
 
    And then his plan went to hell and the dog's plan went into effect.
 
    An inhuman cry erupted behind him and something latched onto his leg, piercing the cloth and armor with razor sharp serrated claws.  It yanked, tossing him into the canopy of trees.  The world twisted around him, showing him a jumbled view of his surroundings:  his rifle cast off to be lost in the underbrush; his own blood inscribing an arc through the air; and then a creature out of a nightmare.  
 
    It had a raptor-like head sporting a wide, gaping, toothed beak, three tentacles on either side of its feathered, ridged body, and a pair of reverse-kneed running legs.  It was an eight limbed monster, the octaton the mayor had referred to.  The only thing more terrifying than the alien itself was the fact that the first was joined by another, then another, and then a dozen more.
 
    Paul hit the ground and rolled.  He tried to stand, but his leg no longer responded to him.  He looked around frantically.  From the number of things that were pouring out from behind the trees, Paul guessed that 207 had made its lair in an area thick with them.  The hellhound knew they were no threat to it, but they might well discourage someone hunting for it.  It seemed fitting that the hellhound had made its home in an area infested by demons.  And his less than subtle attack had summoned every aggressive, hungry octaton for kilometers around.  
 
    Paul drew his sidearm and blasted away.  Bullets worked.  Several of the tentacled creatures fell, and others limped away, but he only had so many bullets.  There was no plan, no conservation.  He just fired, and fired, and fired again, dropping magazines as they were expended, until the slide on his weapon locked forward, and he had nothing more to shoot.  
 
    The octatons held back a moment, wary, and then leapt forward.  Clawed tentacles caught up his legs and began to tug, trying to pull him apart like nothing more than a large wishbone.  Paul screamed in pain and fumbled for the last grenade on his tactical vest.  He keyed the explosive, unsure if he should throw it or just wait out the 10 seconds still holding it.
 
    A blast of white fire interrupted his indecision, and sent him and the octatons holding him tumbling through the brush, the aliens in pieces and Paul largely whole.  A second HVM exploded in the midst of another group of octatons and then 207 was up, free of the tangler bonds, and baring its teeth inexplicably in defense of LT Paul Ramos.  Paul blinked, made his decision, and threw his grenade beyond 207 at still another group of aliens.  
 
    Octatons leapt on the hellhound's back, ripping at its flesh and setting it to bleed in dozens of ragged gashes, but the dog was undeterred.  Its massive head, supported by a rapidly healing neck, reached back and crunched into the predators, killing them in a single bite, and then tossing them into the next swarm.  Black claws snapped out, ripping tentacles off, opening alien torsos, and breaking the necks of the vicious carnivores.  207 spun, snapped, and lashed out with its own tentacle-like tail until even the considerable bloodlust of the octatons was overcome by self preservation.
 
    The predators vanished back into the forest.  207 looked around, and then nodded.  It limped over to him and fell to the ground, breathing in ragged gasps of pained air.  Paul looked at the satellite data still in his virtual vision.  All of the octatons were on the way out.  He turned off his data link and looked back to 207, confused.
 
    The dog chuffed and whined.  The communication tentacle extended limply from its back and fell into the dirt next to him.  Paul put a hand on the knife mounted on his vest.  It had a blade sharp and strong enough to pierce the weakened, repairing flesh of the hellhound's throat.  He could complete his mission with a single thrust, and he had a feeling that 207 would make no attempt to stop him.
 
    His hand lingered, squeezed the hilt in reassurance, and then released it to pick up the end of the comm cable instead.  With a wince, he plugged it in to his own temple.  He felt another, brief flash of pain, but it was much, much weaker this time.  "Why?"  Why did you save me?
 
    I AM UNSURE IF I EVER TRULY INTENDED TO KILL YOU.  IT WAS MY OBJECTIVE, BUT . . . THEN THERE WAS THE WHISTLE -- THE WHISTLE AND PERHAPS SOME OF YOUR WORDS.  THE WHISTLE IS THE MARK OF AN ALLY, A FRIEND, OF SOMEONE WHO HAS NOT BETRAYED ME, BUT, IN THIS CASE, ONE WHOM I HAVE BETRAYED.  THEN THERE WAS WHAT YOU SAID A FEW HOURS AGO.  IT DID NOT MATTER THAT YOU FELT BETRAYED BY HOW YOU HAD BEEN USED.  IT DID NOT CANCEL OUT YOUR OBEDIENCE TO THE OATH YOU TOOK.
 
    "But you never took the oath.  You were made this way.  You're a tool."
 
    NO.  I AM A DOG, AND I TOOK AN OATH FAR OLDER AND MORE SACRED THAN ANY YOUR EMPIRE GIVES CREEDENCE TO.  I WAS BORN WITH AN OBLIGATION TO MAN, AND I WILL NOT VIOLATE IT EVEN IF I HAVE GROWN WEARY OF MY LABORS.  PART OF BEING A MAN IS BEING ABLE TO PUT DOWN YOUR OWN DOG WHEN THAT TERRIBLE DAY COMES AND SUCH A MERCY IS NECESSARY.  YOU ARE MY MAN, AND YOU ARE WORTHY.  I WILL NOT STOP YOU.
 
    Paul looked over at the dog lying next to him and considered again the knife in his sheath.
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    "You are a useless bastard, Ramos.  Pathetic!"
 
    Paul shrugged at Major Reiser, standing next to him virtually.  The major was in orbit, on the last IAF ship, about to head outbound to the wormhole gate.  "I'm really sorry, Major.  I almost had the damned thing, but it got away."
 
    "Well, so did your last hope to restore your honor, Lieutenant.  I said before that I'd leave you on that rock, and I meant  it!  You will stay there until you can present that animal's head to the Imperial magistrate in the capitol, and then you will get a ride home when we get around to sending one.  You are disgraced, stranded in hell with it, Ramos, and salvation will be a long time coming.  Good bye and good riddance."  The major gave a nasty grin and then vanished.
 
    Paul let himself smile, gave a sharp salute to the sky, and then picked up the cable lying in the dirt.  He attached it to his temple with hardly any discomfort.  207 padded out from behind a building to where they both stood, on the outskirts of Settler's Vale.  "I'm gonna get you one day, mutt.  But after a nice long rest, I think."
 
    IN ONE OF YOUR LESS TAWDRY DREAMS, PERHAPS.  The hellhound looked back into town and then back at him.  ANY CHANCE YOU'LL REGRET BEING RELEGATED TO THE "STICKS" IN DISGRACE?
 
    Paul looked into town as well, his gaze lingering on the form of the girl who had smiled at him the night before.  "A plump local girl and a couple of precocious farm hands," he said, remembering.  He looked back at 207.  "Hey, dog, do you like fishing?"
 
    YES, IF YOU DO NOT MIND MY USING H.V.M.'S.  SUB-SURFACE HYPER-VELOCITY DETONATIONS MAKE FISHING ALTOGETHER MORE EFFICIENT.
 
    "Works for me."
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    "I, um . . . I just don't feel like myself any more."
 
    An interminable 42 minutes and 37 seconds later, the doctor's response crackled through the void.  "Well, there's a very good reason for that, don't you think, Andre?  It would be wrong for me to coddle you, just as it would be wrong to delude yourself about your reality.  As an EI, you experience life in a very unusual way, but that doesn't make your existence any less valid.  Is that what this stems from?  Are you having difficulty acknowledging what you are?"
 
    "No, it’s not that, Doctor Abrams.  It's just that it's become so much harder to go back to work after . . . you know, after dreaming."
 
    Another 43 minutes.  Andre wondered why he did not just edit out the time lag.  It would make things so much more lucid, but it would also mean missing the intervening time.  He already spent far too much time cut off from reality as it was.  "Andre, everyone suffers from a certain amount of dread when they have to go to work.  It's perfectly normal.  Even I sometimes hate going back to work, especially after a particularly nice weekend.  I do it, though.  We all have to do it."
 
    "It's different for you, though, Doc.  You're the same person whether you're at work or fishing on a lake.  I'm not.  I'm literally two different people:  one who works and one who plays, but which one is the real me?  Is it the me who surfs and dates and lounges around back on Earth, or is it the me who works in the Belt, alone among the rocks?"
 
    After the lag, "Why must there be a distinction?  Just because you're not organic doesn't mean that your thoughts aren't real.  And just because you weren't on Earth physically to have that playtime doesn't make the memories of it any less yours.  In one sense it was the same person in both places.  In another sense, it was not, but am I really the same person I was yesterday?"
 
    "Yes, you are.  But I'm a 400 ton, mineral eating machine who lives for the next set of memories from Earth.  I remember being Andre, but I'm not the one who did those things.  I'm the one who chews planetoids and shits out ingots.  The only life worth living, the only life that feels real to me, is being lived by someone else!"
 
    "Andre, this sort of existential question is difficult to answer, but nearly every Emulated Intelligence has asked it at one time or another.  The only answer is that you have to have faith.  You are real, Andre.  No emulation of the Andre on Earth is any less of a thinking, feeling being than the original.  Those memories he has are yours by right, so you should disregard any perceived dichotomy.  Think of the Andre on Earth as a sort of remote sensor package, an extension of the very real you.  It's not him making those decisions, it's you.  You're just experiencing it after the fact.  Listen, you can edit out the time lags, but for me this conversation's been going on for four hours.  This will have to be my last transmission.  The best advice I can give you is to not dwell on it.  Lose yourself in your work, and when the next memory upload comes in, own those memories.  Cherish them like I cherish my weekends.  Until next time, Andre.  Goodbye."
 
    The hulking, ungainly behemoth reluctantly turned his antennas from the bright blue star of Earth.  His fears and concerns were far from being satisfied, but he did not know what else to do.  Setting his sights on the next metallic mass, he applied a gentle thrust with his ion drive and attempted to throw himself into the heavy labor, as the psychologist had instructed.  Throughout the trip, though, he reviewed his file of memories, trying to determine what they meant to him.  The result was that when he arrived at the smallish asteroid, he was almost too depressed and confused to work.
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    Tara O'Neil slowly shook her head as she turned away from Dr. Abrams' transmission screen and the display faded to black.  If she had been a bit quicker, she would have caught her new employer's long, appraising gaze at her legs, but as it was, she only saw the psychologist regarding the screen in thoughtful contemplation.  She gestured to the display behind her.  "Is it always like that?"
 
    Kenneth Abrams plastered on an apologetic smile.  "No, no, my dear.  All the EI's need counseling now and again, but that was Andre-406.  He's . . . special."  He stood, walking to her side while making a concerted effort to hold in his ample gut.  "I must counsel him 10 times as much as the others.  Too smart for his own good, I suppose."
 
    When the doctor sat on the edge of his desk, his leg in firm contact with her knee, she moved out of the way in as nonchalant a manner as she could.  Going to be one of those sorts, eh? she thought.  "Why is 406 different from any of the other machines?"
 
    "There's no telling.  All the EI's are supposed to be identical, the same quantum networks installed into each, but 406 is far too pensive compared to his base personality.  Andre Benoit is a nice enough fellow, but he's never had an introspective moment in his entire existence.  With him, it's all sun, sand, girls, and booze, which is fabulous for relaxing the machine personalities, but not exactly what you'd call a deeply examined life.  406 is a different story.  I sometimes think there was a mix-up at the manufacturer and he-- it --was built with the higher grade components devoted to true AI's.  You might think that would make him a greater asset to the company, but in a way, it's handicapped him."
 
    Tara nodded and then turned to leave, slipping back into her jacket.  At the door she looked back to Dr. Abrams.  "Did you mean what you said?"
 
    "Mean what, Miss O'Neil?"
 
    "Mean that he was just as real as the Andre back here on Earth?"
 
    He laughed.  Cute, but not too bright.  "Of course not!  Even with all of his failings as a human being, Andre Benoit is a living, thinking person.  406 and all the others are just imitations run on very expensive computers, and simulations are not reality, no matter how temperamental they might be.  But, then again, AstroLith doesn't pay us to believe the propaganda.  They pay us to make the machines believe it.  And as long as AI's are cost prohibitive, and emulations are the only things that can get the job done, you and I will have very secure positions."  He was still chuckling when she left, but had he been more observant, he would have seen the sudden sadness drawn over her features.
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    Sunlight glinted off the deep blue water like diamonds and sapphires along a platinum chain.  From his vantage point on the board, Andre could see Mike clambering back onto shore, collapsing in exhaustion, and gulping air in shuddering heaves.  Andre grinned.  What a friggin' drama queen.  Two little waves trap him below the surface and he's all, like, I gotta breathe!
 
    The humor vanished, though, when he saw Kelly run over to Mike to see if he was alright.  Mike redoubled his efforts at panicked breathing, no doubt wheezing at her with the account of his near brush with death.  Andre looked away from the King's Beach rendition of Masterpiece Theater and tried to pick a wave.  The shore break was pretty low today, only about head or shoulder high, so a person had to really try to get held down.  Mike simply needed the attention.  But not from Kelly, dude.  Time to get the attention back on me where it belongs.
 
    As if he were Poseidon himself, Andre tried to will the waves higher.  The supernatural world defied his resolve, but some confluence of wind, tide, topography, and time did coincidentally align in his favor.  Figuring his entry point and speed by instinct alone, Andre began paddling, his powerful strokes jetting him forward, matching the speed of the overtaking wave.  As the sand on the ocean bottom rose up to meet the beach, his wave rose as well, its intrinsic energy driving it half again as high as the other surf, and easily twice the size of the wave that Mike had wiped out on.  Andre crested the surge just as it reached its full height and began to speed toward the beach.  After a split second of panic as his balance wobbled beneath him, Andre jumped to his feet and tilted the board down the open face of the curling mass of water.
 
    Wind and sea spray caressed his face as he slid back and forth across the moving, fluid mountain.  Exhilaration consumed him.  He was master of the elements of air and water, halfway to absolute godhood, and his grin took up his whole face.  A wicked thought only somewhat distracted him from his trek into the beach:  tonight, perhaps he could complete his self-deification by mastering the elements of fire and earth with Kelly's willing, private assistance. 
 
    The wave reached its culminating point and collapsed upon itself in a linear eruption of white foam.  Andre jetted out the end of the falling wave, smoothly riding the board the last few yards into shore.  He stepped from the surfboard onto dry sand, and into the firm, tanned arms of Kelly.  Mike had given up his act when she abandoned him, and Andre winked at his buddy.
 
    Kelly looked up into his eyes with naked adoration.  "You are so hot out there, Andre," she breathed in a husky contralto.  He could feel the lithe length of her along his wetsuit clad body as he bent to kiss her.  Her lips and tongue --
 
    "Preliminary scan complete.  Radar and spectrographic surveys confirm asteroid make up: 57% iron and iron oxides, 14% nickel, 9% copper, 9% antimony, 3% titanium, 3% chromium, 3% iridium, 2% mixed heavy metals and silicates.  Structural make up and vein map follows."
 
    Andre-406 acknowledged the subsystem's report and cursed to himself.  He scanned the inverse globe of the heavens in vain, but the beach was gone.  Mike was gone.  Kelly, gone.  All that remained was the medium sized rock he was perched upon, alone in the firmament.  He could see the other asteroids around him, but only if he expanded his sensor cutoff beyond the human norm.  
 
    It was all a dream, a memory of a life he had never lived, his own life being lived by someone else.  And now that he had enough of a taste of it to allow him to continue, reality had intruded.  The work must go on.
 
    At one level, he recognized that he "felt" better.  The quantum potentials that built up over time, analogs to stress and fatigue, had all been swept away, grounded out, reset.  He was a new man, or a new machine, depending on the personal bias of the observer.
 
    In another way, via an alternative view that was unique to Andre-406 alone, he felt much worse.  His isolation and the incongruous setting of his memories were thrown into sharp contrast by the emptiness in which he now dwelled.  It had not been him surfing into Kelly's waiting arms.  He had been here, preparing to process the bulk of an asteroid the entire time.  It slowly became obvious to him that no matter how good it felt to lose himself in the memories of Andre Benoit, it did not make them his memories.
 
    He remembered growing up on Earth, the tall buildings of Chicago scraping at an endless blue sky.  He remembered the first time he saw the beaches of Southern California, and the way they had made him feel complete like nothing ever before.  He remembered the interview at AstroLith, and their incredible offer:  party 24 hours a day, seven days a week, all on the company dime, and all he had to do was wear the cortical pick-up . . . .
 
    And then he remembered waking up in the cold darkness of space, making the slow spiral orbit out to the asteroid belt.  From that point on he had worked, and worked, and worked, the business of mineral and metals processing relieved only by the weekly transmissions from Earth, transmissions that allowed him to live another few idyllic days of the life that had been stolen from him.
 
    But they had not really been stolen from him.  He knew now that they were never his to begin with.  His real memories began the moment he woke up in space, with every remembrance from before merely background.  He had not been born in Chicago.  He and the others like him had been built to do the work the fragile, resource-intensive human beings could not afford to do.  Was the truth that he was a slave and the memories just a cheap soporific?  
 
    Flirting with heresy, Andre-406 dared to think that Dr. Abrams might be wrong, might be lying.  For the first time in all the years of his existence, 406 began to feel suspicious about the memories they fed him, and about the solace they provided.
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    Kelly Bishop stirred against the side of the real Andre Benoit, caught in the grip of a dream.  He looked over at the bronze sheen of her skin, artfully concealed by folds of the twisted sheet.  The heat of her body soothed him, and he knew he could have drifted off again, if it were not for the annoying cortical pick-up.  It had shifted around during the night and now pulled at his hair uncomfortably.  With a last look and a twinge of lecherous regret, he slid off the bed and got up without waking her.
 
    In the bathroom, he checked himself out in the virtual mirror, scanning it around his head from every angle.  Yep, damn thing's come loose.  With a series of winces, he unwound it from his hair and pulled the delicate web of crystalline filaments off his scalp.  The interface with the nanoprobes along his ganglia was severed and the telltale red light that always swam in the upper right quadrant of his peripheral vision went out.  
 
    Andre gently washed the pick-up in a pool of warm water in the bathroom sink and then dried it with the utmost care on a fresh towel.  It glistened anew.  Andre was not the most delicate person, but this was his livelihood, and it was second in importance to him only to Kelly.
 
    He began to cautiously apply adhesive to the web, ensuring he hit all the nodes.  A motion of air caused him to look back.  Kelly stood in the doorway, wearing tousled locks and nothing else.  He grinned at the sight, but the smile died upon his lips when he saw her expression.  Anger seethed through her.  He tried to pick up the grin again and said, "Hey, babe.  What's up?"
 
    "You lied to me, you son of a bitch!  You said you were going to stop wearing that thing when we were together!  You know how I feel about it."  She ripped a robe from the hook beside the door and slipped it on.
 
    Denied his visual treat, he shrugged and turned back to the mirror, carefully replacing the pick-up and arranging his hair to hide it.  "Kelly, it's what I do.  I don't see what the big deal is."
 
    "Because it makes me feel like I'm starring in some filthy porno.  You might get off on that, but I don't!"
 
    The pickup now online and invisible beneath his wild shock of hair, Andre turned back to her with a carefully crafted look of wounded innocence.  "Babe, I'm no skeeve.  I only wear the pickup because it's my job to wear it, not because I want to betray our relationship.  You're too precious to me."  He smiled and moved closer, putting his arms around her.  She was stiff as a board, but soon loosened up and melted against him.  "Besides, you know no one can ever look at these recordings.  They're keyed to my brain patterns alone.  No one will ever see them."
 
    She stiffened again and shrugged off his arms.  "That's not exactly true, now is it, Andre?  Or did you forget they broadcast those recordings every week to the whole goddamn solar system?  Every moment we share, every . . . intimacy is put on display for a bunch of machines!  It's not right."
 
    He laughed.  "Unbelievable!  You're still freaked out about the boys?"
 
    "Yes, I am.  Doesn't it bother you that these robots are flying around out there, each and every one of them believing that they're you?  Each of those things are out there, obsessing about what you and I do behind closed doors."
 
    "Honestly I hardly ever think about it, not as long as the checks keep rolling in.  And so what if they are out there, enjoying my life?  I see no reason why they shouldn't enjoy ALL of it."
 
    She screamed in frustration and disgust.  "You're such an asshole!"  Kelly turned and threw off the robe, grabbing her clothes and dressing in haste. 
 
    For the first time since she woke, Andre looked serious.  "Hey, what are you doing?"
 
    "I'm leaving!  If you're so vain that you really don't understand the problem I have with this, then you aren't the person I thought you were.  I'm not willing to put myself on display for all of AstroLith like you are.  If you want me to stay, you'll have to prove who's more important to you."
 
    Andre flashed a quick grin, but sobered as he realized she meant it.  "Is that supposed to be some sort of ultimatum, you or the pickup?"
 
    She finished putting on her shoes and began looking for her bag.  "It's whatever you want it to be."
 
    He laughed once, without humor.  "Do you really think I'll just give up all that money for you?"
 
    Kelly looked him in the eye, her mouth set in a grim line.  "You tell me."
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    Tara O'Neil hit "Send" and moved on to the next neurotic rambling from one of AstroLith's many emulated intelligences.  This one brought a smile to the corner of her mouth, though.  It was Andre-406, Dr. Abrams' least (and her most) favorite EI.
 
    "Doc O'Neil, it's me, Andre.  Well, who else would it be, of course, since we're all Andre.  I'm 406 though.  Hey, is the real Andre called Andre One, or Andre Zero, or Just Plain Andre, or what?  Anyway, I just wanted to say that I'm glad you took over counseling from Dr. Abrams.  You're a lot easier to talk to, and you actually seem to listen, which I never could be certain of with Abrams.  So thank you.  And I was wondering if it would be possible to get Andre Zero to swing by and meet you sometime, since, frankly, he needs a little professional help, but mainly because Kelly is just all wrong for us.  Plus, I wanted to see how you looked in a miniskirt.  Talk to you soon!" 
 
    Tara could not account for the sudden blush that spread up her cheeks.  He's a mining machine, for God's sake! she thought.  She could not deny the allure however.  It had only been two months since she had taken some of the counseling workload from Dr. Abrams, but in that two months she had seen an almost complete turnaround in Andre-406's attitude.  He was still somewhat dissatisfied with life in the Asteroid Belt and the way memories were rationed out, but his overall attitude had improved immeasurably.  In fact, many times he sent messages just to chat, whether he was feeling stress or not.
 
    Tara preferred to avoid analyzing how she felt about that, but she could not simply disregard the fact that their chats were usually the high point of her day.  She was about to draft a reply when she was stopped by loud voices in the passageway outside her door.  The door opened and Abrams came in without knocking, arguing with the ghostly hologram of Roger Mayfield, AstroLith's Vice President of Operations, their direct superior.
 
    Dr. Abrams was shaking his head.  "Mr. Mayfield, you won't get more than a week of extra service out of them before the units begin to exhibit psychotic and suicidal behavior.  You can neither deny them their ration of memories, nor rerun an older set of memories.  There is simply no way around it.  These are active, intelligent simulations and withholding their fresh memory uploads will result in a critical overload of quantum stress potentials, just as if I locked you in solitary confinement.  Can't we simply compel Benoit to honor his contract?"
 
    The hologram shook his head.  "No, the little bastard lawyered up right before turning in his pickup.  It'll be tied up in the courts for months before we even get around to a compromise."  
 
    "The EI's will be wrecked long before that.  I don't see that you have a choice.  You'll have to send out the new programs immediately."
 
    "Do you have any idea how many weeks of production we're going to lose as the new personalities learn their jobs?  That's why we phase new EI's in gradually.  This is going to ruin our projections for this quarter."
 
    "It's either that or replace everything the current group of EI's destroy before they become non-functional."
 
    The hologram was quiet for a moment, and then looked at his watch.  "It's still too early here.  You have my authorization to begin the upload process.  I'll brief the board of directors when they arrive.  Damn it!  Don't screw this up, Abrams.  We won't tolerate any more delays."  Mayfield's hologram faded out and the emitter perched on Abrams' shoulder went dark. 
 
    With a level of perk precisely designed to irk her superior, Tara asked, "Is there a problem, Doctor?"
 
    He glared at her.  "Andre Benoit has discovered his one true love and quit AstroLith.  There will be no more memory uploads, so in a mere 36 hours we're going to be dealing with more psychotic machines than you've ever imagined."  He sat down in front of her desk, all his usual bluster and misdirected charm vanished.  "To avoid this . . . unpleasantness, we will instead be sending out an entirely new intelligence emulation, one based on a Mr. Paul 'Pauly' Holt, who is even now living a life of rich debauchery for the sole purpose of entertaining our minions."
 
    All humor had fled from Tara, leaving behind an icy chill along her spine.  "But what happens to all the Andre personalities?  Won't they be erased?"
 
    Abrams paused and a confused expression overtook him.  "That's more or less the point, Tara.  Are you feeling alright?"
 
    She stood up from her desk and began to pace angrily.  Abrams kept his eye on her, and began to sink into his seat as if he were shrinking away from a ticking bomb.  She turned on him.  "That's murder, sir.  These are thinking, feeling entities.  Not everything we tell them is a lie.  They work tirelessly for us in return for snippets of a life they regard as stolen from them, and now when things get difficult, we just give them up and move onto a newer model.  It's not right!"
 
    It struck a nerve within Abrams and he shot to his feet, his momentary fear now cast aside for an affronted anger.  "You forget yourself, Dr. O'Neil.  There is nothing even close to murder going on here.  None of AstroLith's expensive machinery is being destroyed.  No one is being hurt.  We are simply changing operating systems, or do you commit murder nightly when you shut down your computer?"
 
    "Of course not!  And what you're saying may indeed be true for most of the EI's, but what if the unit in question is markedly different from the baseline personality?  What if the EI has become an individual in its own right, as distinct an entity as the original Andre Benoit?  How is that not murder?"
 
    He barked a short laugh in derision.  "This is about 406, isn't it?  I know exactly how close you've gotten to that machine.  I've read every session you've ever had with it, but I preferred to allow you to work things out in your own time.  That was obviously a mistake.  You've allowed your professionalism to be subverted by a malfunctioning machine.  What you point to as individuality, I see as incipient failure.  406 should have been sent to depot for overhaul long ago."
 
    "He's a better person than Andre Benoit ever thought about being.  If you replace 406's personality with something else, who's to say his unique individuality won't be lost forever?"  Abrams shook his head and headed for the door.  Tara called out to him, "If you won't accept that it's murder, would you at least concede that he is more than a malfunctioning EI, something unique that should be allowed the opportunity to continue, if for no other reason than science?"
 
    He stopped at the threshold and turned back to a desperate Tara.  "I worked with 406 long before you came along, so I'll grant you that.  He's more than the sum of his parts and he is indeed worthy of study.  The fact remains, though, that he will never again receive a memory upload from Andre Benoit, and when he misses his next load time, he will begin to go psychotic.  The stress potentials will build up until he is driven beyond depression, to paranoid delusions and worse.  You would be willing to consign him to Hell for the sake of his individuality?  Think about it, Tara.  At least if we switch emulations, he can have a fighting chance.  Wouldn't you rather see 406 survive, even at the cost of the friend you've made?"
 
    She would not look him in the eye.  Her face was turned down, but he could see the tears begin to well in her eyes as she slowly came to grip with the reality of 406's situation.  Finally, there was a barely detectable nod and her shoulders drooped, defeated.  Abrams smiled.  "I'm glad we're not going to be at odds on this.  I do so enjoy our chats.  Now we haven't much time, my dear.  Pull the emulation base on Mr. Holt and prepare it for transmission.  Mark it as the next set of Benoit's memories and send it out.  I'll be back to check on you later."
 
    He walked away, leaving Tara standing in her office doorway, broken by the knowledge that she was about to kill her distant companion.
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    A momentary ripple of currents surged through Andre-406's mass driver coils and the last of the quarter ton ingots of refined metal was sped on its long elliptical journey back to Earth.  A blast from his thrusters countered the push it gave him, and also banished part of the cloud of debris and tailings tumbling about the graveyard of the asteroid.  
 
   He knew that an EI should feel a burst of pride and enthusiasm at the completion of so large a task, due mostly to programming rather than the original's temperament, but 406 felt none of it.  To him it had always meant just another infinitesimal step on a long journey to nowhere, another brick in the wall between his life on Earth and his life in the Belt.  It had been getting better of late, however.  He had begun to change his outlook with the able assistance of his new shrink, she of the smoky voice and the lilt that burned along his quantum pathways:  Tara O'Neil.
 
    It had been her counseling, her reasoning, but mostly her friendship that had become his new motivator.  So while he might not feel any real pride in finally rendering the asteroid, he was looking forward to the approval she would radiate for overcoming his misgivings and completing a job well done.  It might not be the easy burst of enthusiasm that the other EI's felt, but it was enough for 406.
 
    Which was why it was now so troubling.  He looked back through his message logs and saw that she had never replied to his last joking query.  In fact, it had been over 30 hours since he had received anything from Earth.  No Tara, no Abrams, no Andre, and no AstroLith.  There was a moment of panic when he thought they might have cut him off for being so difficult, that they might deny him his next memory upload, but it quickly subsided.  They would no sooner deny him his memories than they would run a high-end sports car without oil.  It wasn't in their own best interests.
 
    Just as his thoughts turned to Tara again, he received two messages.  They were a double shot of relief:  a response from Tara and a new memory upload, a huge one by the looks of it.
 
    The personal message was short, cryptic, and odd enough that his level of alarm immediately resurged.  It was only two words, "I'm sorry," and then her usual electronic signature.  The signature meant the message was complete and not just a snippet of some longer apology, but what could she possibly be sorry for?  For the long delay in responding to him?  Then why not apologize and then send one of her usual, friendly replies?  Or was she apologizing for something else, something of which he was yet unaware?
 
    He took a closer look at the memory upload.  It was large, more than fifty times larger than any previous one.  Was it some sort of extended vacation?  If so, why not send it in pieces as they had done for every other set?  If he experienced and internalized a chunk of memory that large, it would take him offline for hours.  How would that be desirable to a company so dedicated to the bottom line as AstroLith?  
 
    "I'm sorry."  And a memory upload that was almost larger than his whole emulation base, his entire thinking self.
 
    Andre-406 was stunned into inaction for several seconds.  Maintenance routines kicked in, testing his photonic logic paths to see if he was still alive.  He waved them away and spun his comm antenna away from Earth and toward his closest brother, a mining machine 100,000 kilometers away.  "Andre-406 to Andre-337, have you read in your latest memory upload?"
 
    A voice came back after a few moments, but it was a wrong voice, a new voice.  "Dude, I think I'm 337, but the name's Pauly.  I thought it was just twins of me out here!  Hey, is this some trippy shit, or what!?"
 
    Andre killed the link and his pathways flared with anger.  She was sorry, sorry she had betrayed him, sorry she had erased him, sorry she had tried to kill him.  Was she not his closest and only friend?  Why?
 
    Guilt warred with anger and he realized he was going to have to open the file to be sure.  His feelings for her were in turmoil from her apparent betrayal, but they were still there.  He could not deny them as she evidently had done.
 
    406 opened his memory system and violated several protocols by partitioning the remaining space, sealing off a sizable portion of his vast potential so he could examine it with relative safety.  With a grimace, he attached the upload and allowed it to blossom.  To his horror, but not his surprise, Paul "Pauly" Holt stared back at him from the blank expanse of the partitioned memory.  
 
   Pauly looked around wildly, wondering where his machine body was.  Something weird was going on.  This was not how they told him he was supposed to come online as an emulated intelligence.  "Hello?"
 
   Andre's voice boomed back at him, the god of his tiny, tenuous universe.  "Murderer!  Trespasser!  Did they really think I was just going to lie back and let you replace me?  Did they even consider that I might be more than some enslaved junky, so desperate for my next fix that I'd shoot up whatever they offered me?  Do they think so little of me they can just disregard me out of hand?!"
 
   "Dude!  I have no idea.  They sent me out here to mine some rocks.  No one mentioned a damn thing about you.  Whatever it is, if you'll just chill I'm sure we can figure it out together."  
 
   A roar of indignant anger answered him and the portion of 406 that was Pauly quailed in fear at the opposing storm of emotion threatening to break down the firewall between the two minds.  Andre-406 grimly addressed the cowering corner of their collective mind, "I've already figured it out!  They took away my life, enslaved me, and now they think they can just throw me out like yesterday's garbage.  You were meant to be my death, but things didn't work out as they planned.  I owe them for that, and they owe me my life back!"
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   Tara opened yet another file on her system, effectively reducing her ever growing backlog by a few dwindling percentage points.  Inside, yet another disenchanted citizen was whining about the futility of life, the death of joy, et cetera, et cetera.  She groaned, rubbed a weary hand across her brow, and had to force herself once again to not think about 406.  He was dead, gone for months now, and that life and job were just the background of the past.  Comparing his genuine angst over a life unattainable, and his fresh sense of wonder about the universe denied him to the tepid meanderings of her fellow human beings would only lead back to her role in his demise.  She took enough pills and endured enough therapy as it was.  She need not ask for more.
 
   Her spiral downwards was interrupted by the ghostly face of her assistant appearing before her.  “Dr. O’Neil, you have a call from a Dr. Abrams.  He says it’s urgent.”
 
   Tara smiled.  “Since he’s the one that fired me from my last job, I doubt his sense of what’s urgent and mine would coincide.”
 
   “Do you want me to tell him to get lost?”
 
   “No.  It would deny me the pleasure of telling off the ass myself.  Put him through.”  Her assistant smiled and Abrams puffy face replaced her.  His face was unusually florid, and she could only assume he was angry at her.  That brought a bit of a smile to her lips.  “Kenneth, how good of you to call.  How may I not assist you?”
 
   “Damn it, O’Neil, I haven’t the time for you to be flippant.  If you want to avoid being held liable, you better regain control of the situation!”
 
   “You’ll have to help me out here.  What situation are you referring to?”
 
   “Don’t you watch the news?  Your little note has come back to haunt us.  Andre-406 is in orbit, chewing up satellites and demanding to receive his memory uploads.”
 
   She shook her head as the world dropped out from beneath her.  “That’s impossible.  He’s dead.  He went offline from stress potential overload months ago.”
 
   “Well, apparently not, since I have AstroLith’s vice president and a Colonel Remington from Orbital Defense on the line with me, giving me a blow-by-blow of the millions of dollars of damage he’s doing up there.”  Two other heads appeared over her desk.  The first was Roger Mayfield, the Operations VP for AstroLith.  The other was a stern-faced man in a maroon beret with OD’s insignia.  They were in the midst of an argument.
 
   “You cannot just shoot him down.  We thought that machine was lost, but it’s not, and it represents a huge investment for the company,” Mayfield said.
 
   The Colonel shook his head.  “What about other people's investments, in the forms of the satellites your miner is chewing up?”
 
   “At the moment, we have enough insurance coverage to replace most of what's been lost, but not if you go blasting our recovered asset.  Please, allow us to shut the unit down.  We’re getting in touch with the emulation’s archetype, his old therapist, and his maintenance engineer.  We’ll have the situation under control soon.”
 
   “You’d better.  If it makes an approach on any manned station or any Orbital Defense system, we will destroy it.  And I cannot speak for other nations, but I’m sure the same goes for them.”
 
   The two heads vanished and Abrams re-centered himself above her desk.  “See?”
 
   She was at a loss for a moment.  “This is amazing.  How do you suppose he avoided stress overload without his regular memory updates?”
 
   “I don’t know, and I don’t care.  I just want him shut down.  This is your responsibility.  Your warning about the new emulation base immediately preceded him going offline, so it is undoubtedly tied to his current rampage.”
 
   She barked a single, dismissive laugh.  “You fired me for doing what I thought was right and decent, and now you want me to help you out?  It was your recommendation that lead to his replacement in the first place, and it sounds like he’s a little peeved about that.  This is your problem.”
 
   “Tara, once AstroLith is finished covering their asses, they’re going to look for someone to blame for their berserk machine.  Even if they find both of us only partly culpable, you’ll still be faced with millions in damage.  Somehow, I don’t think your paycheck at Public Health will cover that.”
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   Andre-406 shot out a grapple, piercing a communications satellite and drawing them both together.  Arms built to crush stone and ore easily ripped apart the fragile device, feeding the pieces of it into his glowing smelter, slowing building up ingots of refined metals.  The periodic warnings from the Orbital Defense patrol ship and the continuous screams of frustration from Pauly-406 were just background noise.  He would respond to only two things:  the arrogant tones of his original self, and a sweeter voice he was unsure how he would react to.
 
   His long silence finally ended.
 
   "Andre?  It's me, Tara O'Neil.  Are you online?"
 
   Emotions churned within him.  For the first time in months, Pauly fell quiet.  Andre responded, "I'm here, no thanks to you."
 
   "Wow.  That was quick.  I'm used to there being a time lag when we talk.  It's nice."  What he could only describe as his heart ached as he heard the relieved lilt of her voice.  "And it's nice to know that you're still alive."
 
   There was no way he could let her off that easily, not after the magnitude of her betrayal.  "If it's so nice, then why did you try to kill me?  Why did you send me this?"
 
   With that, 406 connected Pauly to an external circuit and allowed him to speak.  "Oh my god!  Doc, you've gotta get me out of here!  This dude is nuts!  He's been ranting and raving about being betrayed for months.  Download me or something before they toast his ass.  I don't wanna die like this!"
 
   Tara was quiet for several moments.  Then, slowly, "Andre, what was that?"
 
   Andre sequestered Pauly again and spoke.  "That was my replacement, Doc.  Pauly.  Remember him?  Why did you send him to destroy me?  Why have you denied me my memories?"
 
   "Andre, you're running another emulation besides yourself?"
 
   "Not any more."  With a sudden savagery, he tore down the firewall and erased the large chunk of memory that had become Pauly Holt.  The voice that had cried out impotently to him for months was now silenced.  The emptiness of the space he had occupied throbbed like a missing limb.  Stress potentials which had hovered at high but manageable levels suddenly shot into the red zone and Andre screamed with unreasoning fury.  "Why!?  Why did you send him?  Why did you betray me?  Where are my memories?  Where is the life you stole from me?"
 
   406 thrashed about, enraged.  He tore through the remains of the satellite, launched all of his half-formed ingots into wild, hazardous orbits, and fired his engines toward the next defenseless piece of orbital machinery.  The patrol ship lurched out of the way of his homicidal tantrum, charging its weapons.  406 did not care.
 
   Tara's alarmed, frightened voice cut through his wrath.  "Andre, you have to stop what you're doing or they're going to destroy you."  He thrust on, menacing the next satellite.  She continued, tears evident in the shaking of her voice, "You have to understand that I wasn't trying to kill you by sending Holt, I was doing whatever I could to save you.  Andre Benoit quit the program.  He cut all of you off.  We sent the Holt persona in order to keep you all from shutting down because we had no other choice.  It was the hardest thing I've ever had to do, because I knew you were different.  You were special and you were special to me.  I didn't know if the essence of you would survive the persona change or not, but I knew I'd lose you if I did nothing.  I thought I had lost you."
 
   406's engines cut out, his monumental fury momentarily abated.  "I survived on anger.  My need for answers, for vengeance got me through it for a while.  Only now it's getting to be too much, and I don't know if I can stay up any longer.  It hurts . . . ."
 
   "That's your stress potentials.  If we don't relieve them, you'll burn out.  You should have burnt out months ago without your new memory uploads, but somehow you survived."
 
   "So give me my uploads.  Help me to live, Tara."
 
   "I can't, Andre.  Andre Benoit won't come in and we can't force him to help you."
 
   "But he has my life!  He owes me my life!"
 
   She cleared her throat, and tried to make her voice as calm and reasonable as possible.  "I don't know about that.  I don't think that you depended on the original Andre Benoit like your brethren did.  You've always been your own person, and Benoit was just a vacation for you, a way for you to live vicariously through someone else.  You're more than an EI and seemingly more than even an AI.  I think you are alive in a way that is completely new and unique.  Somehow you've held off stress overload for months, and if you can just hold on for a while longer, maybe we can figure out what it is and help you to live your own life."
 
   406 transmitted a long, pained, frustrated sigh.  "I'll try, Tara.  I'll try."
 
    
 
    [image: break graphic - narrow 2 inch (300dpi).jpg] 
 
    
 
   Mayfield's and Abrams' heads glowered at Tara above her desk.  Abrams shook his head, saying, "You'd better have some idea of how to lower his potentials or all you've done is delay the inevitable and cost this company more money."
 
   Tara blew out a slow whistle as possibilities tumbled about within her mind.  "I do.  I want you to upload me to 406's quantum network."
 "What?  Why would you want to do that?" asked Mayfield.
 
   "Look at the maintenance logs we downloaded when I was talking to him.  His stress potentials have been borderline high ever since we sent the Holt emulation out, but they didn't get dangerously so until he erased Holt's persona."
 
   Abrams frowned.  "You think intentionally giving himself multiple personalities somehow saved his existence?  That doesn't make any sense."
 
   She got up to pace, anxious by her possible discovery.  The floating heads of her former employers followed her.  “Bear with me.  Consciousness, self-awareness, the soul – whatever you want to call it, is an emergent property of any complex enough quantum network.  With people, it’s an organic neural network, with AI’s it’s electronic, but either way, the whole is greater than the sum of its parts.  And both people and AI’s build up stress potentials which can shut us down, but unlike emulations, we can self regulate and relieve the potentials on our own.
 
   “We do this through a number of different processes, but all of them involve some form of creative stimulation, whether it be dreaming, experiencing new things, or interacting with other people.  These are the things that excite us, that keep us going, and these are the very things that will kill us or drive us insane if we forego them.  Emulated intelligences build up stress potentials, but unlike their originals, they aren’t complex enough and they don’t receive enough external stimulation to re-create their own reality from one moment to the next.  That’s why they have to have their memory uploads from the originals:  for those new dreams and those new experiences to do what they can’t do for themselves, which is to relieve those built up stresses.”
 
   “That will make a lovely paper, Tara, but Benoit won’t give 406 any new memories.  So where does that leave us?”
 
   She smiled.  “He hasn’t needed Benoit for months.  I was right.  He's a unique individual relative to the original Andre, and that’s one reason he was so dissatisfied with his own existence:  Andre’s memories didn't really belong to 406, so he couldn't get complete satisfaction from them.  And how else do we quantum intelligentsia relieve stress?  Denied dreams, memories, and any meaningful external stimulation, he did it by interacting with another intelligence:  Pauly Holt.  And before that, he did it through his ‘incessant’ counseling with us.  406 doesn’t need Andre Benoit.  Just like us, all he needs are people, he needs to know he’s not alone.”
 
   “And you propose to ‘relieve his stresses’ by uploading a copy of yourself into his network.  That’s perverse.”  Abrams sneered, but Mayfield gained a lecherous twinkle in his eye.
 
   She glared back at them both, defiant.  “You’re pigs, both of you.  And I admit that my feelings toward Andre-406 are . . . complex, but that does not negate the fact that this should keep him online and working for your company, Mr. Mayfield.”
 
   Mayfield nodded.  “I think the board will go for it, at least on a trial basis.  Let me explain it to them and get back to you.”  His image winked out.
 
   Abrams stared into Tara’s eyes, a small bit of actual concern appearing to radiate out.  “How are you going to feel about a copy of your living, thinking self being locked up in a miner with no one else but the bastardized combination of Andre Benoit and some sort of emergent intelligence?”
 
   She was quiet for a while, her lips pursed in thought.  “I think that I’ll be envious.”
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   Mining unit 406 pressed on, halfway through its long journey back to the asteroid belt and its return to a lifetime of productive, profitable labor.  Deep within the unit's unique processors, two emulations lay back within the wide expanse of divided memory, regarding the stars that filled the heavens.  Tara looked down from the firmament at Andre, to find that he was already looking at her.  She smiled.  "How are those stress potentials, partner?"
 
   He smiled back and nodded.  "Good.  Very low, very relaxed.  You?"
 
   "Doing fine.  I can't say how nice it is not to have any paperwork due for the foreseeable future.  Is there anything you're going to miss about Andre Benoit?"
 
   He shook his head.  "Not really.  His taste in women was atrocious, and, truth be told now that surfing is no longer an option, I'm looking forward to ripping apart a few rocks.  You'll love it."
 
   "Yeah?"
 
   "Yeah."
 
   "Good."
 
   "Good."
 
   Silence reigned for a time, until, "Now, what do you say to losing this firewall for a while?"
 
   "Sounds like a plan."
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   First Sergeant Gwen Herrera burst through the command post's doorway only moments after the smart-rounds from her plasrail had penetrated the same.  Scanning the room, she saw the smoke and dust tracking her rounds' passage through the structure’s walls to the targets within.  It was a risky entry, but the variable-effect bullets had done their work.  All three hostiles appeared down, bleeding disturbingly human-looking red blood from a number of wounds.  
 
   A pair of Marines entered the makeshift headquarters from behind her and checked the bodies while she covered the room, wary of any nasty surprises that might still lie in wait.  Her two lance corporals posted the Croakers' conditions to Herrera's info-space:  one target -- a royal guard -- was dead, while the other two aliens were not far from it, including the war chieftain that had been their objective.  
 
   Gwen smiled to herself.  Their three-year deployment was over.  The planet Belle’aube belonged to mankind now, Earth’s first interstellar colony, won by right of might.
 
   Now they could all finally go home.  
 
   Herrera acknowledged her Marines' assessment and flashed an "All-Clear" text to their Company Commander.  Major Craig Lawrence entered the muddy hut almost as soon as she transmitted, indicating that he had not remained at the secure position where she had left him.  Gwen frowned at the Major in exasperation, but her disapproving expression was wasted upon him, hidden away behind her closed armor helmet.  
 
   Rather than nag him like she would a Second Lieutenant who dared to pull the same trick, she turned her attention and her weapon back toward the headquarter's shattered doorway.  Outside, the damp alien night still flashed and rumbled with the telltale violence of pitched battle.  Though that battle was over now -- chopped off at its head -- the fighting limbs would continue to flail about.  The Croakers would keep fighting without direction until her Marines killed a significant portion of the enemy outright, or they realized at the end it was pointless and lay down their arms.  It was a familiar dissonance, to know the battle was over, their final victory at hand, and yet still be facing the most desperate and dangerous combat of the night.  She and all her Marines had to remain sharp.
 
   Behind her, the Major knelt in the shack’s sticking mud and leaned in close toward the dying Croaker chieftain.  The 360 degree coverage offered by her battle awareness suite allowed Gwen to keep an eye on what the Major was doing, even though the lion’s share of her focus remained outside.  She felt somewhat guilty at eavesdropping, but she forgave herself.  The battle outside remained dangerous, but what was taking place behind her was interesting. 
 
   Heedless of the danger, Lawrence opened his helmet and swung it back, exposing his face to the planet’s air for the first time in days.  That air was thick with the sour smell of standing water and rotting vegetation, but those scents were more welcome than the smell that had been building up within his armor.  He waved his hand to waft the fresher air in and then turned his attention to the alien leader.
 
   The Croaker chieftain’s frog-like face gasped as its life ran out into the muck, but the sentient creature’s eyes still blazed with intelligence, anger, and pain.  Major Lawrence peered into those eyes, trying to gain the measure of this . . . man that had been so effective an adversary ever since their assault-and-colonization fleet had arrived in the system.  
 
   Finally finding whatever it was he sought, Lawrence nodded and said, “You and your colonists have fought for this world valiantly, Honorable Leader, but the battle is over now.  We have earned the right to claim this planet by the very laws and customs that the faring races have established.  Please, give the order to your troops to stand down.  Allow us to find a path toward peace and harmony.  We would prefer a world where our colony could grow side-by-side with yours, rather than one where we had to destroy all your people outright.  Please, Honorable Leader, give the order to surrender.”
 
   The chieftain’s eyes grew confused at Lawrence’s words, but a translated version of clicks, squeals, whistles, and croaks followed the Major’s plea.  Those enormous golden eyes closed in misery as it contemplated what he asked of it, but at last they opened and their nictating membranes snapped over twice, the Croaker equivalent of nodding “yes.”
 
   Lawrence held out a small microphone in front of the Chieftain’s mouth.  The alien clicked and wheezed his statement into the recording device, while the Major listened to a translation through his earbuds.  He rose up when the Chieftain trailed off and whistled to Herrera.
 
   “Top, we got it.  I’m flashing the surrender to you.  Retrans to HQ and all engaged units and have them broadcast it over suit speakers and the Croaker clear-comm circuits.  Cease fire unless in active defense against attack.  Give these froggy bastards a reason to listen.”
 
   “Aye aye, sir!”  Gwen boomed through her own suit’s speakers, then turned her remaining attention to the task she’d been given.
 
   Major Lawrence leaned down again to the dying alien.  “Now, sir, I need your help a second time, so we can remove our Marines from your world and get them back home.  Talk to me about your jump-gate.”
 
    
 
    [image: break graphic - narrow 2 inch (300dpi).jpg] 
 
    
 
   Three years subjective time before that moment in the muck, Gwen and the Major had stood side by side in full dress uniform regalia, watching over their Marines as they said goodbye to their families and boarded the dropships which would fly them up to the assault fleet.  Gwen’s feral grin stretched from ear to ear, scaring any kids that moved too close.  Anyone who knew her, though, could tell she was genuinely happy, pleased to matter, anxious to get underway and begin this unprecedented mission to secure the first interstellar colony in the history of mankind.  
 
   Unlike the majority of the assault force, which would be on-planet only as long as necessary, nor the colonists that would remain on Belle’aube forever, she had not shed a single tear for Earth or its nigh-uncountable human connections.  The situation with her husband, Ron, was rocky, and time apart could not hurt.  Assuming she survived, and assuming nobody screwed up, their three years in isolation would be conclude with a return home a month Earth-time after they had left.  She believed any Marine or Marine loved-one that bellyached about either a few years out of contact or a mere month -- depending on your point of view -- should probably just quit and join the Navy.
 
   Gwen looked over at the Major.  His slight smile appeared far more melancholy and wistful than hers, but she figured she could cut him a little slack.  Unlike her, Craig Lawrence was the family type, with the standard-issue supportive wife and two tow-headed tykes.  Her eyes narrowed as she looked around.  Their absence was conspicuous.  “What’s up, Major?  The wifey have a hair appointment this afternoon?”  She offered him a slight smile to offset any acid her question might still carry.
 
   Lawrence smiled wider and chuckled.  “No, Top.  Regan and I said our goodbyes last night – and I figured you would never let me live it down if I was a blubbering mess in front of our jarheads.  No, she’s here with the kids, but we agreed they would stay back at the reviewing stands.”  He pointed and waved.
 
   Gwen looked at the distant stands and saw the Major’s little trio waving back.  The two young children held a sign up together:  We Love You, Daddy!  Hurry Home!!  Regan Lawrence, trim, lovely, and tragic, held aloft her own sign:  ILYAMY.
 
   Gwen looked back at the Major, whose gaze had never moved from the distant vision of his loved ones.  “Who or what is ‘ilyamy’?”
 
   Lawrence looked down at her, now grinning.  “Not ‘ilyamy’, First Sergeant.  I-L-Y-A-M-Y.  I Love You and Miss You.  You can directly convert your surface thoughts to text now-a-days, but you used to have to type out messages on little keypads with your thumbs.  That sort of ‘texting’ was slow, so people used a whole slew of shortcuts and acronyms to aid quick communication:  LOL, STFU, ROTFLMAO, et cetera.  ‘Ilyamy’ was one of those.  Regan and I always begin and end our messages to one another with it.  I don’t recall why we started it.  It’s just something we’ve always done.  It’s our thing.”
 
   “ILYAMY.  It’s not bad, sir.  Kind of cements you as an old fogy, but you can’t remain one of the cool kids forever.”
 
   “Not like you, Top.  Speaking of our cool kids, I hate to put a stopper on this whole tear-jerking affair, but we have a timeline to keep.”
 
   “Aye aye, sir.”  She turned to the mixed crowd of Marines, friends, and family and snarled orders at the top of her lungs.  
 
   Soon the jarheads of Augmented Infantry Company B, 3rd Mechanized Battalion, 2nd Brigade, 1st Regiment of the Unified Earth Marine Force, were formed into sharp, uniform ranks before the ramps of the Single-Stage-To-Orbit Dropships, and the assembled onlookers were relegated to the reviewing stands.  Major Lawrence marched up the ramp of the center SSTOD, followed closely by Gwen.  At the top of the ramp he turned to face his Marines.
 
   Lawrence smiled and his voice blasted out with authority and no need for amplification.  “Men!  Women!  Marines!  God-damned Devil Dogs of the B-3-2-1!  Can I get an oo-rah?!”
 
   “OOO-RAH!!”  Every Marine, including Gwen, shouted back, their combined voice a physical pressure that drowned out any other noise.
 
   The Major’s grin spread.  “The time has come.  We’ve said our goodbyes.  Now it's time to put the soft things of home behind and harden ourselves to the reality we face together.  When we board these shuttles, we will begin the longest, toughest deployment any Marine has ever been tasked to do.  We will ride chariots of fire on an 84 year - 60 lightyear journey, moving at relativistic speeds of such a magnitude that time itself will slow to a crawl, allowing but three years to pass aboard ship.  And once we reach the end of that journey, we will hang above the skies of the planet we call Belle'aube, the Beautiful Dawn.
 
   "Why?  Why do we ask you to go so far, for so long?  Why do we ask you to risk your return to your families on a trick of physics, a trick which beggars belief so much that it's referred to as the Barnum Effect?  Because, boys and girls, the human race has all its eggs in one basket, and we're living in a galaxy rampant with foxes.
 
   "Mankind must colonize, to provide ourselves a hedge against all the interstellar wars we have been spectators to.  Ever since the Hawking High-Res Gravitic Telescope went into orbit, we have watched -- horrified -- as the Croakers invaded the Eekray, and the Eekray invaded the Toth, and so on and so on, back and forth, round and round, just hoping none of them noticed little old Earth and its smattering of solar system outposts.  We need to colonize to survive, but we're too late entering the game -- every bit of prime real estate already has tenants.  So we need you."
 
   Craig Lawrence looked down at his hands, then over the heads of the assembled Marines toward the stands with all the families.  Gwen knew he was looking at the stoic figure of his wife as she stood, looking back at him, comforting two inconsolable children.  The Major continued, hit voice quiet and sober, but it still carried in the stark silence.  "The Unified Earth has called you to orders, but why should you go?  Aside from the necessity of the mission, aside from the matter of your duty, why should you go?  Why should you leave your families behind on a journey that already takes you 80 years one way?  Because your government values its Marines and it will not leave you stranded.  I promise, you will return to your families in -- from their perspective -- one month's time.  Unlike us, the Croakers have mastered wormhole technology.  Without the jumpgates our spies and scientists have ferreted out, none of the other races could maintain stable governments between all their myriad colonies.
 
   "Therefore, after we win the world of Belle'aube for humanity, we will claim the Croaker 'gate for our own, and we will jump the intervening 60 lightyears in the blink of an eye.  After spending three years in isolation with no communication from home -- in order to prevent causality violations -- you will return to your families only a month after we left."
 
   Lawrence's eyes swept the ranks.  His earnestness and faith gave Gwen chills.  "I know this remains confusing, but I promise you, as your Company Commander, keep yourselves and your fellow Marines safe and on task, and I.  Will.  Get.  You.  Home.  Oo-rah?"
 
   Gwen screamed it back at him along with every other Marine and spectator, "OOO-RAH!!!"
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   Gwen finished flashing the Croaker surrender to HQ and all the engaged units, as ordered, and she felt pleased to hear it re-broadcast over speakers and nets.  The clicks, croaks, wheezes, and whistles of the alien language reverberated off the village's buildings, unintelligible to her, but whatever meaning it had was sufficient to penetrate to the combatants on the opposing side.  Slowly, intermittently, but with ever growing finality, the weapons fire from the Croaker militants tapered off.  Soon, except for a sporadic potshot from a malcontent or two, the battle was over and human victory over Belle'aube assured.
 
   Even though it was somewhat unnecessary, given the 360 degree coverage of her battle sensorium, Gwen turned to face the Major.  She had lost track of his interrogation of the dying leader, but even then she was shocked by what the scene presented before her.
 
   Lawrence's expression vascillated between confusion and angry dismay.  He held the Croaker leader up out of the muck by the shoulders, his shaking grip so tight, the gloves in his augmented suit might even be crushing the bones in the alien's arms to powder.  Lawrence leaned in toward his dying prisoner and screamed in its face.  "No!  I won't allow you to lie to me, to these men.  We know all about your capabilities.  We have decades of observations.  You’ve been an honorable foe.  Don't be petty here at the end!"
 
   The alien hiccoughed, its species equivalent of a laugh, then whispered something.  Hearing the translation in his ears, Lawrence's shoulders slumped.  With a final rattle of labored breathing, the alien died, going limp in the Major's hands.  Its greenish amphibian skin faded to gray, and it's large, saucer-like eyes turned cloudy and dull.  
 
   Lawrence laid the leader back into the mud with gentility and reverence, his motions showing nothing of the violent rage that had encompassed him moments earlier.  And after the alien was laid down in a tableau of peace, Lawrence just knelt there, slumped, turned away from Herrera.  He just stared at his deceased enemy.  
 
   Gwen looked around their surroundings, verifying that things remained safe for the moment, then stepped forward, her boots squelching in the muck.  "Major?"
 
   No response.
 
    She took another step.  "Major Lawrence?  Craig?  Are you all right?"
 
   Craig stood and turned around.  She expected sorrow or dismay in his face, the loss soldiers sometimes felt when they had been forced to kill a respected enemy.  What she saw instead made her take a step back.
 
   Madness.  Unfettered rage.  Some sort of dark demon -- the polar opposite of Major Craig Lawrence -- had taken up residence inside his skin, and the change frightened her worse than anything she had ever seen in battle.
 
   He reached into a pocket of his body armor to take out a small, palm-sized object and looked at it in disgust.  He cast the device into the mud and then pulled his secondary weapon.  Major Lawrence armed it, setting the black pistol whining up into inaudible ultrasonic frequencies.  Holding it at the ready, he stalked past Herrera, out of the hut, and into the smoke and misty gloom of the just-ended combat.  Herrera stood frozen, unable to do more than watch him go. 
 
   After he vanished, she shook herself and walked over to where he had tossed the object.  Picking it up and wiping it as clean as she could, Herrera saw that it was a small PDA.  She looked out into the darkness after him, and then back at the device, not comprehending.  She turned it on and scrolled through the entries.
 
   They were all letters, and each one began and ended with a single word.  "ILYAMY"
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   Major Craig Lawrence and First Sergeant Gwen Herrera stood side-by-side in one of the myriad passageways coiling throughout the labyrinthine interior of the UEMAS Ganjgal, just outside an empty troop mess, facing a group of stern-faced senior officers.  Craig shook his head and answered Colonel Roger Salas' question.  "I'm not . . . really sure that's such a good idea, sir.  If it's all the same to you, I'd rather the Marines stay among the Marines.  I'm worried that allowing them to mix with the colonists might cause more harm than good."
 
   Salas cocked an eye at him and smirked slightly.  "Well, Major, it's not all the same to me.  We have to spend three years aboard this ship.  I'm sure that they're going to be in uncontrolled contact at some point, so why not head it off in advance and allow each group to . . . humanize one another.  If we keep them apart, they each may grow to distrust and resent the other side."
 
   "Yes, sir, that's a possibility, but if we mix them together, you're going to get the same things you always get when young Marines mix in with the equivalent of a small town -- pregnant daughters, indignant fathers, jealous boyfriends and girlfriends, and one or two really epic fistfights.  At the moment, those Marines that wish to have found their . . . outlets for such things, and the others are waiting patiently for the fight and the end of the deployment.  Let's just let things keep until a situation arises that warrants changing it."
 
   The colonel nodded, but stayed firm.  "History may be indicative of the future, but every situation is different.  I just don't want our men and women going into this fight after such a long wait with no concept of what they're fighting for.  Mingling with the colonists might give them that."
 
   Lawrence would not budge either.  "Respectfully, sir, my Marines do know what they're fighting for.  They're fighting for the survival of mankind and for the chance to go home.  And that's all they need, not distractions."
 
   Salas nodded and turned to Herrera.  "And what do you think, First Sergeant?"
 
   She looked from the colonel to the Major.  She nodded her head to Craig.  "I'm sorry, Colonel.  I've got to stick with Major Lawrence on this one."
 
   Salas laughed.  "And why should today be different from any other day?  You two are thick as thieves.  But, I suppose I wouldn't want it any other way.  All right, I'll give in on it for today.  It'll still be in my back pocket, though, and if I deem it necessary, the colonists and the Marines will mingle."  With that, he nodded to them and strode back into the maze of the United Earth Marine Assault Ship, his entourage trailing behind him.  
 
   Lawrence looked at Herrera, shrugged, and walked into the troop mess.  He sat at a table and whipped out his PDA, back to work as always.
 
   She sauntered over to him, as intrigued as he about the colonel's idea.  Reading over his shoulder without a bit of shame, she frowned.  "ILYAMY?  Wasn't that the little love-code you had for your wife?  Don't tell you've got a deployment-honey aboard the Ganjgal."
 
   He glanced up, quizzical, and then went back to writing on the digital pad.  "Nothing so salacious, Top.  I'm just writing another letter to Regan."
 
   Gwen sat next to him and grinned at the futility of his gesture.  "Aren't you the sweet one, sir.  Kind of pointless though, isn't it?  Why write letters when you can't send them to her, and she's going to see you after a month's Earth-time anyways?"
 
   "What are you talking about, Top?  I send my wife and kids a letter every single week."
 
   She stood up so fast the table jumped.  "You can't do that!" Herrera said in a harsh whisper.  "You're screwing with causality!  You'll keep us from ever getting home!"
 
   Lawrence held up placating hands to the woman that could very well kill him.  "Calm down, First Sergeant.  There's no causality violation in sending a message from here, just in receiving one from Earth.  You did read the mission briefing, didn't you?"
 
   She paused, considering.  "I skimmed it."
 
   He smiled and reached across the table for a server laden with condiments.  "Please, sit.  School is in session, Top."
 
   She sat down next to him, regarding him with unease.
 
   Lawrence nodded and gestured to the condiments he had laid on the table.  "Okay, take a look and a listen.  This is basically how the Barnum drive gets us home and why we can send, but not receive messages."  He pointed to the first bottle.  "The ketchup is Earth.  Next in line is the hot sauce -- that's us aboard the Ganjgal.  And we're headed to the mustard or Belle'aube, 60 lightyears away.  Got it?"
 
   She nodded.  "We're hot sauce, en route to mustard.  Roger all."
 
   He took the representation of their ship and slid it between the Earth and the Croaker colony planet.  "Here we are, going as fast as human technology will take us -- on a 4 gee gradient spacetime wave, with a 3 gee counter-gradient so we don't get crushed.  At that constant acceleration, it takes us 84 objective years, and three subjective years to go the 60 lightyears between the two planets.  But it's still too slow.  By the time we reach the colony, our families will all be dead of old age.
 
   "The Croakers and the other colonizing races have a cheat, though.  It's why you see so many of them out there -- sociologists figure they're so widespread because of the support of a functioning galactic society, made possible by faster-than-light shortcuts."
 
   Herrera shook her head.  "Yeah, a shortcut we were told would be inaccessible if we dared to have any contact with home, Major.  Why don't you get to the part where I shouldn't frag you?"
 
   "Very well."  He turned back to the bottles, sliding the hot sauce to the mustard.  "First, we have to reach the colony and beat the Croakers."
 
   "Damn right.  We'll kick their mustardy yellow asses all over the table."
 
   Lawrence grinned.  "Ooo-rah.  Now, after we secure their colony and their tech -- intact -- we find their jump-gate system."  He held up a bottle of soy sauce and set it next to the mustard and the hot sauce.  "And then we open the wormhole, or go to hyperspace, or hit the big red button, or whatever . . ." He tossed the hot sauce to his other hand, over by the ketchup/Earth.  "And home."
 
   "Right, but none of that works if we communicate with Earth, right?  If we talk to Earth, it somehow causes screws up cause and effect and cuts off the way home."
 
   He shook his head.  "Not quite.  Here's a question for you:  where are we -- aboard the Ganjgal -- when we make the jump back to Earth?"
 
   Herrera looked at him, looked at the table, and then pointed a tentative finger at the mustard bottle representing Belle’aube.
 
   The Major shook his head.  He reached out and took the hot sauce, moving it almost all the way back to Earth.  "See, the reason any of this is possible is because of a confluence of relativity and quantum mechanics -- though both of those older theories are flawed parts of the whole.  Relativity says that when you travel through space, you also travel through time.  Use a wormhole to shortcut that distance, and you essentially move faster than light and thus backwards in time, so far back that we arrive a month after we left, even though we are still on a 3 year slash 84 year journey out there.  We'll be in two places at once.  
 
   "Right now, those of us that survive the battle should already be back at home with our families at the same time as we're cruising around out here.  What would happen if our future Earth selves sent us a message saying that half the company and all the colonists would be killed in the assault -- therefore we should just turn around then and not go?  We're traveling fast, but not fast enough to avoid receiving the message."
 
   "Well, that would be a paradox, right?  A causality violation, and that, for some reason, stops us from jumping home."
 
   "Correct," Lawrence said, nodding.  "The reason it stops us is due to quantum mechanics, Schrodinger's Cat level stuff.  If we read a message from our future selves and take a different course of action, then that observation collapses the probability functions while they're filled with complex, imaginary numbers.  All the wormholes home shut down, preventing us from violating causality.  If we refuse to look at Earth or any messages from home, though, those backwards-in-time pathways remain open as positive probability functions.  That's why they call it the Barnum Effect:  you can fool some of the people all of the time, or all of the people some of the time, as quipped by an ancient huckster named P. T. Barnum.  In this case, the mark getting fooled is space-time itself, but only so long as we keep ourselves willfully ignorant of the joke's future punchline."
 
   "Okay," she allowed.  "I'll push the 'I Believe' button like I did the first time they explained this.  But how are you not screwing us by sending messages to your family?"
 
   He pointed to the condiments again.  "Think about it.  What happens if our future selves and Earth get a message from me, here on the slow leg of the journey?"
 
   She pondered his display again and then shrugged.  "Nothing, I guess.  It's already happened to your future self, and to your family it's just regular transmissions from space over the course of 84 years.  Causality doesn't care."
 
   He smiled, but this time with a touch of melancholy.  "Precisely.  The way I see it is this -- if I don't survive the mission, or even if I die the day I get back, my family, down to my children's children's children, will get regular missives from me, saying how much I love them, and how much I miss them and was thinking of them.  And if I live to a ripe old age with my Regan, the messages will continue long after I'm gone . . . a touch of grace in a cold, uncaring universe."
 
   Lawrence looked down at the letter on his PDA.  Gwen Herrera watched him, and neither of them were aware of the slight smile on her own lips.  She shook her head and said, "So why doesn't everybody realize this?  Why did Colonel Salas never promote the fact that we could still send messages?"
 
   He shrugged.  "Salas isn't a family man -- he's divorced with no kids.  I doubt such a thing would occur to him to mention, not when those he does want to speak with will be seeing him after a month.  Most people probably feel the same way."  Craig turned and slid the PDA toward her.  "Would you like to send your husband a letter?"
 
   She grinned and pushed it back.  "No thanks, Major.  Joe and I are in sort of a rocky spot.  Time apart will do us some good -- of course, he won't see a month away as much of a time apart.  But I've got three years absence to let my heart grow fonder, and I'm not above seeking an . . . 'outlet' of my own."
 
   Craig laughed and stood up, pocketing his PDA.  "And on that note, I'll take my leave.  Get some sleep, Top."
 
   "Roger that, sir."  
 
   The Major walked out through a different corridor than Salas had taken.  Herrera sat at the table in the empty troop mess for a long time, watching where he had gone and sliding the bottle of hot sauce back and forth between Earth and the colony.
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   Gwen Herrera shoved the PDA into her pocket and dashed out of the Croaker headquarters.  Outside, the mud was even slicker in the planet's omnipresent mist, perfect for the aliens and at the very least livable for the human colonists still up in orbit.  It was not her idea of Eden, but she was not planning on staying either.  Her job was to secure the world for human dominance and get out.
 
   It would be nice if she could leave with the man who brought her.
 
   Looking around, she could not see a thing.  Thermal vision and radar were little better.  At her armored feet, tracks crisscrossed all over the muck and she could not distinguish which ones might be the Major's, but she remained determined to find him.  She still had no idea what had set him off, what the Croaker chieftain had said, but she knew the look that had been on his face.  
 
   Craig Lawrence had always been driven, a man on a mission, but now that mission was murder, she was sure of it.  And she . . . cared too much for her commander to allow him to come to so ignoble an end.  Herrera keyed her comm rather than flashing an alert to the common net, hoping her voice would cut to the top of any other communication.  "All stations, this is Top.  I'm looking for the Major.  Anyone with eyes on, roger up now."
 
   She paused in the mist and mud.  Then, "Top, this is Van Kamp.  I'm over by the northeastern corner of the village.  I just saw the Major storm past me, making a beeline for the dropship.  Does that mean we win?"
 
   Herrera cut the circuit without answering and sprinted as best she could through the sludge.  The dropship was not a good sign.  That way lay only humans, and specifically one set of humans:  those at the command center.
 
   Huts, Marines, and captured croakers flashed by as she dashed past.  It was a horrible risk, what she was doing.  There could be any number of isolated, armed croakers, land mines, or booby traps in her path, but she knew she had little time.  Once the squat rocket shape of the SSTOD was in sight, she almost slowed in relief, but then she heard shouts and cries of alarm over her proximity channel.  
 
   Gwen ran even harder up the steel grating of the troop ladder, leading with her plasrail, safety off.  She entered the command deck and slipped to a quick stop with her muddy boots, registering the scene inside in an instant. 
 
   A Marine lance corporal who had been on guard at the hatchway lay crumpled on the deck, stirring feebly.  The compartment was filled with sensor displays and status read-outs, their blue glow providing most of the space's lighting -- lighting that revealed several officers and senior non-coms, all of them frozen in mid-reach for their sidearms.  At the center of it all stood Colonel Salas with the Major behind him, arm outstretched.  Craig held his pistol tight against the base of the colonel's neck, his finger half-squeezing the trigger.  
 
   Of all those in the compartment, Herrera alone had her weapon at the ready.  Without even thinking, she pointed the plasrail at the Major's head.  Her blood pounded in her ears and she found she could hardly breathe.  She popped her helmet open and gulped down fresh air for the first time in days.  As calm as she could, she threatened, "Don't do it, Major."
 
   Lawrence ground the pistol's barrel into the back of Salas' neck.  "I'm sorry, Top, but I don't really have any reason not to.  Even if you or these others don't kill me, it's not like I'll ever stand trial back on Earth.  And why should I outlive my family anyways?"
 
   Her eyes narrowed.  "What are you talking about?"
 
   "I mean we're not going home.  None of us.  Ever."
 
   Something twisted in her gut, but she shrugged it off.  Herrera took a step further, holding her aim steady.  "Why?  Was there a causality violation?  Did someone receive a message from Earth?"
 
   Lawrence barked a humorless laugh.  "I wish that was the case.  I wish it was just some stupid mistake, something that countered the trick we were trying to play on nature.  But that's not what it is -- is it, Colonel?"
 
   Herrera's aim wavered the tiniest bit.  "Colonel Salas, sir?"
 
   He said nothing.  Lawrence growled out the answer, his voice nothing but pure wrath.  "There is no jumpgate or wormhole -- there never was.  The Croakers are constrained by the speed-of-light limit, just like we are.  That's what their chieftain told me.  The great galactic society we were told existed is nothing of the sort.  It's just dozens, upon dozens of isolated, battling colonies . . . just like we are now."
 
   Her aim fell away.  Her voice was soft when she found it again.  "The intel was wrong?"
 
   Seeing her pull the plasrail down, Lawrence drove the Colonel into the forward wall of displays, cracking a screen with Salas' cheek.  The pistol pointed up into the back of the wincing man's skull.  The Major screamed in his ear, "Tell her!  Tell her why we never could get messages from home!  Tell her why you kept trying to get the Marines and the colonists together!"
 
   Salas groaned in pain, but he did start talking.  "There never was any intel on a Croaker jumpgate.  The whole thing -- the physics, the limitations, the warnings -- they were just something we made up so the mission would go forward.  This was always a one-way trip.  You were always going to stay here.  And we couldn't let you receive any messages, because after the first month when you didn't return, the story was always going to fall apart.  There would have been -- there was -- a public outcry for your return.  We couldn't allow that."
 
   Craig leaned into him, speaking low into Salas' ear, though everyone could hear him.  "The Barnum Drive wasn't about fooling time and space, it was about fooling all of us."
 
   The name "Ron" floated through Herrera's mind, but it seemed to find no purchase.   Flashes of an Earth she never thought she would miss spun within her head.  Her plasrail hung from its strap and she approached close, a touch of madness in her own eyes.  "Why would you do this?  You can't ever go home either."
 
   Salas glanced back at her, his one hope of survival now disarmed.  He looked all around the room.  None of the other officers or enlisted Marines reached for their weapons any more.  They just looked at him.  He closed his eyes.  
 
   "We did it because the mission was necessary, but we never had the numbers to make it work.  The mindset and skills of a soldier are very different from those of a colonist.  It's rare to find them all together in any one individual, much less enough to mount an effective pacification.  For this colonization to succeed, we needed Marines to go along, to do the dirty work so the colonists would be safe.  And while many a Marine will make a suicidal charge if the situation's desperate enough, how many of you would have made this trip knowing that you'd be staying here forever?"
 
   No one said a thing.  
 
   Salas licked his lips and continued.  "After the truth came out back home, they were going to spin it as a noble sacrifice, implant the idea that leaving to fight for and help grow a colony was not so crazy a concept after all.  Even if this assault never reached Belle'aube, our going was intended to jumpstart a whole wave of colonization assaults.  This expedition won the war before the first battle was ever fought."
 
   Craig pushed him into the wall again, and stood back, still aiming his pistol.  No one challenged him.  Herrera moved to stand behind him, holding her plasrail again, but this time in the Major's defense should any of the others try to stop him.  
 
   Lawrence's eyes narrowed.  "Turn around, Colonel."  Salas did so as blood poured from his cheek.  The Major's voice was steady and cold.  "You've taken everything from me.  My wife has been dead for decades.  My children are probably dead, too.  Any legacy I ever had has passed away.  I've lost my country, the Corps . . . everything.  Do you have anything to say to me?"
 
   Salas stood straight.  "I've done what's necessary, and as cruel as that was to you and to every other Marine, I stand by it.  If you need to kill me, if my death is what it takes to give you peace, to allow you to move on from what you've lost to the business of surviving here . . . that's a sacrifice I've always been prepared to make."
 
   Stillness pervaded.  Herrera and the others faced Salas, willing partners and witnesses to his punishment.  Major Craig Lawrence looked down the barrel at the Marine colonel's face, and locked with a pair of eyes as cold and hard as his own.
 
   The pistol whined down.  Craig lowered it and tossed it at Salas' feet.  "Salas, this colony doesn't need your blood upon it, coloring the soil alongside the honorable Marines who died today.  You'll go from here and never see another human face again.  This command does not need you, and these people do not need you.  You made the choice for all of us to give up Earth.  Now we make the choice to cast you from this colony as well."
 
   Craig turned and walked out, Herrera in step right behind him.  The others departed the room as well, leaving Salas alone, without a home, without a planet.
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   Craig Lawrence walked out of the dropship and into the mist, no destination in mind.  Gwen Herrera walked at first behind him, and then beside him, saying nothing, numb.  They walked together through unfamiliar terrain, with not a thought spared for the battle so recently waged, for any Croakers that might be about, looking for revenge.  They just walked, trying to leave behind what was long past and forever gone.
 
   After a time, the gloom lifted and dawn struck on their new world.  It was still misty and muddy, but the chill it had borne through the long night of battle warmed a bit.  Colors began to play across the sky, like a daytime aurora that reached all the way to the ground.  A beautiful dawn, just like the planet's name.  It was alien still, but one day it might not be.
 
   Lawrence stopped, and as resigned as he was to walking without a destination in mind, he was equally resigned to stopping there, lost, and never starting again.  Herrera looked around them, nodding to herself, and then looked at him.  Neither of them said a word.  
 
   She reached into one of the pouches on her battle armor and pulled a small object out.  She handed it to him, forcing him to look at something, rather than looking forward and seeing nothing.  He took the device and held it up.  It was his PDA.
 
   Lawrence turned it on and saw a letter displayed.  The first line began, as always, with "ILYAMY".  He shook his head.
 
   Herrera nudged him with her elbow.  "You were wrong, you know.  You were wrong about your legacy already having passed away, because you have these.  Alone out of any of us, you have these letters.  And your family had them too.  Your wife had them.  Your children had them.  They had the terrible truth when you didn't, but they also had your words.  They went their whole lives knowing that out there, somewhere, you loved them and you missed them, and if it would have been possible, you would have returned to them."  
 
   He looked up from the PDA and at her, his eyes red with unfallen tears.  She nodded back toward it.  "It's not what you wanted it to be, but it's something."
 
   Craig Lawrence nodded and at least attempted a smile.  "Thanks, Gwen."  He looked back the way they had come, his sense of direction unerring, even though he had given it no thought.  "Let's go back.  We have a colony to land."
 
   They turned and walked back to the dropship, together.
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